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INTRODUCTION



On behalf of Council and staff of the Corporation of 
the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake, it is our pleasure to 
present the 2017 Annual Report.

Niagara-on-the-Lake is one of Canada’s most historic 
and picturesque towns. Established as a settlement 
for United Empire Loyalists in 1781, the Town was 
incorporated and became the first capital of Upper 
Canada in 1792. Today, it is the only municipality in 
Canada whose Head of Council bears the title of Lord 
Mayor. While we are home to approximately 17,500 
permanent residents, we also welcome millions of 
visitors to our community each year. Residents and 
visitors alike enjoy the Town’s natural beauty, as well 
as our many heritage landmarks and local amenities, 
including some of the finest vineyards, orchards and 
greenhouses in Canada; the world-famous Shaw 
Festival Theatre; internationally-acclaimed wineries’ 
and four-star dining and visitor accommodations.

2017 has been a very active and exciting year for our 
community. The Town held a number of community 
events in 2017 to celebrate the sesquicentennial of 
Canadian Confederation. The musical revue, ‘Welcome 
to Confederation!’ commemorating 150 years in 
Niagara travelled to all five communities and was a 
great success. The Tall Ships visited the Town in early 
July and the Canadian Forces Snowbirds stopped by 
in September. We also took time to commemorate 
the 225th Anniversary of the opening of the First 
Parliament of Upper Canada on September 17th. 
The year of 2017 was filled with community events 
celebrating Niagara-on-the-Lake’s history.

Niagara-on-the-Lake is a vibrant and growing 
community, one that welcomes diversity and 
encourages unity. On behalf of Town Council and 
staff, we are extremely proud of the work we have 
accomplished this year and of our employees’ 
dedication to providing quality programs and services 
for our residents and to the millions of visitors who join 
us each year.

Sincerely, 

Pat Darte
Lord Mayor

Holly Dowd
CAO

GREETINGS FROM
LORD MAYOR & CHIEF 
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER
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LORD MAYOR & 
COUNCIL MEMBERS
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Councillor

John Wiens
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CORPORATE 
MISSION
We are committed to supporting a high quality 
of community life through the delivery of 
friendly, effective and efficient government 
services.

OUR VALUES
Accountability,  
Dedication,  
Respect,  
Service Excellence.

CORPORATE 
VISION
To further value, align and invest in the diversity of 
our community to support and sustain a high quality 
of life for our residents and visitors.
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Niagara-on-the-Lake is one of twelve municipalities within Niagara Region. Prior to the creation of the 
Regional Municipality of Niagara in 1970, the area was comprised of the former Town and Townships of 
Niagara. The Town is represented by a Lord Mayor and eight Councillors

Niagara-on-the-Lake also holds the distinction of being the first capital of Upper Canada from 1792-1796 
when it was known as Newark.

The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) is appointed by Town Council to oversee the management and 
operation of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake. As the Town manager, the CAO advises 
Council on all municipal programs and services and is accountable to Council for all operations of the 
Corporation.

LEGISLATIVE  
AUTHORITY



92017 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT  TEAM

Holly Dowd
Chief Administrative Officer 

Rob Grimwood
Fire Chief

Craig Larmour
Director, Community & Development 

Services

Sheldon Randall
Director, Operations

Fred Cervantes/Kyle Freeborn
Acting Director, Corporate Services
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ORGANIZATIONAL
CHART

Community Engagement 
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Human Resources 
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Lord Mayor Darte, Councillors Bau-Coote, Collard, Disero, Flynn, 

King, Mazza, Miele & Wiens

Chief Administrative 
Officer
Holly Dowd

CAO’s Office 

Corporate Services

Acting Directors 
Fred Cervantes, Kyle Freeborn

Operations 

Director 
Sheldon Randall
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Development Services 
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Craig Larmour

Fire & Emergency 
Services 
Fire Chief 

Rob Grimwood
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Emergency  
Management 

 
Fire Prevention 

 
Fire Suppression 
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RESPONSIBILITIES

• Chief advisor to Town Council

• Provides leadership to Town staff

• Coordinates all departments to ensure 
efficient implementation of Council policies 
and directives

• Guides the implementation of Town 
Council’s Strategic Plan

• Develops and maintains key relationships 
with other municipal, provincial and federal 
governments and organizations

Leading a team of exceptional employees, Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Chief Administrative Officer 
(CAO), Holly Dowd, serves as the most senior position of the Corporation and is responsible to 
Town Council for the effective and efficient operation of all Town programs and services. 

OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Community Engagement 
Human Resources
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

LIST OF 2017 ACHIEVEMENTS:
Community Engagement 

• Events held in 2017 included;

- Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Senior Citizen 
Strawberry Social that was attended by 
over 300 senior residents

- A children’s Halloween scavenger hunt in 
the Council Chambers and a Halloween 
costume event at the Community Centre 
for families

- The First Annual Step Challenge in 
collaboration with the Niagara-on-the-
Lake Active Transportation Committee

- A community engagement session to 
update the public on the Town’s Strategic 
Plan progress.

• Ongoing work with the 2014 – 2018 strategic 
plan continued and included the launch 
of the Lord Mayor’s Youth Committee, 
the implementation of the Economic 
Development and Community Wellness 
working groups, and the establishment of 
the Town’s Volunteer Talent Bank.  

• Increased the number of social media 
followers in 2017 by expanding the number 
of posts and engagement levels on various 
platforms.

• A homepage redesign was completed  on 
the Town’s website (www.notl.org) with the 
help of web search analytics and identifying 
‘frequently visited’ pages on the homepage. A 
community calendar component was added 
to the Town’s online calendar.

• Implemented a new layout and design 
introduced for the bi-annual NOTL 
Community Guide and distributed 1500 
copies per issue.

• Preliminary steps were taken to implement a 
new online community engagement tool for 
2018: Join the Conversation NOTL  
(www.jointheconversationnotl.org).
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

LIST OF 2017 ACHIEVEMENTS:
Human Resources

• Hired 14 new full time employees for 
existing positions and approximately 60 
contract staff

• 45 employees completed the CPR and First 
Aid Training course

• Successfully negotiated a 4 year agreement 
with the Employee Bargaining Group

• Continued to update corporate policies as 
required by legislation
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

The Corporate Services Department, consisting of Clerks, Finance and Information Technology 
(IT) divisions, continually strives towards the department’s mission statement “To provide quality 
services in an effective manner to both internal and external stakeholders”.  

The Clerks division oversees the maintenance of corporate records such as by-laws, meeting 
minutes and agendas, issuance of licenses, processing of requests and applications  
(Special Events, Freedom of Information, Irrigation, Real Property Transactions), and coordinating 
of the Municipal Election.  Finance maintains a strict adherence to generally accepted accounting 
principles and ensures that the Town finances remain true, accurate and transparent to all 
stakeholders.  The IT division leverages technology to facilitate the effective maintenance and 
delivery of said services.  

Having acted as Director of Corporate Services, this experience has given me a true appreciation 
of what Corporate Services does as a whole.  I can say with confidence our team is the envy of 
other municipalities in terms of services that are provided for Niagara-on-the-Lake residents.

Neighboring municipalities continue to reach out for advice on how to efficiently record, maintain 
and deliver information: digitizing records management, autonomously Live Streaming Council 
and Committee meetings at Town Hall, keeping staff and Council connected while being offsite 
and mobile, keeping meeting agendas and minutes accessible to the public and community 
engagement through our website.

I am proud to say that we are the little Town that could.  Although the workload remains high 
throughout the Corporation, Corporate Services continues to deliver effective and efficient 
service.  I am proud of this team and continue to be amazed at staff’s commitment and 
dedication.  

SIncerely,

Fred Cervantes, 
Acting Director of Corporate Services

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Office of the Town Clerk  
Finance & Taxation   
Information Technology 

GREETINGS FROM THE 
DIRECTOR
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LIST OF 2017 ACHIEVEMENTS:

• Canada Award for Financial Reporting- The Town has won six consecutive awards for 
publishing high quality financial reports.

• Investment Policy – A policy was developed that will guide the Town when making investing 
decisions and will help grow an existing revenue source.

• Streaming and Archived Videos of Council and Committee Meetings- Archived Committees of 
Council videos have been made available to the public. Autonomous camera switching for live 
streaming of Council and Committee Meetings at Town Hall are archived and stored online 
and are publicly accessible. Last year’s addition of Committees of Council recorded meetings 
are now also stored online. Viewership remained steady in 2017 and continues to climb 
annually. Below are two charts; the first shows what types of devices people are using to watch 
Livestream and the second indicates whether people are watching a live or recorded meeting. 

CORPORATE 
SERVICES
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

• Online Service Requests- The ability to fill out an online service request was made available 
through the Town’s website in April, 2017 and 140 requests were submitted online. After 
submitting an online service request, users receive a tracking number so they can easily 
follow up on the status of their request. 

• Spam email filters- The Town’s spam filtering defense was moved to a comprehensive 
email and gateway solution. In December, 2017 a total of 57,417 emails were received by 
the server. 27,456 (48 %) were allowed through to the email whereas 29,961 (52%) were 
blocked and marked as spam or a virus. 

• Improved Telephone System – The Town’s 20+ year old phone system was moved to a new 
host telephone service via Bell Total Connect. Features of the new phone system include 
voicemails sent as audio files to email, direct phone numbers, and ring anywhere (choose 
whether to have phone ring at the desk, cell phone, or both).
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

• Ergonomics in the workplace- an ergonomic review took place and a three year work plan was 
developed to increase ergonomics at the Town offices.

• Customer Service Counter – Renovations took place at the Customer Service Counter including 
lowering the height of the counter and removing narrow doors to provide greater accessibility. 
The addition of an extra work station and additional counter space allow staff to provide 
quality services in an efficient and effective manner. 

• Outdoor Municipal Sign- A working group was appointed to review several design options for 
a new outdoor municipal sign. Council approved the recommendation made by the working 
group and the new sign was installed in September, 2017. 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

As the Director for the Community and Development Services Department, I am pleased to 
present our annual report which highlights the Department’s core services and achievements for 
2017.

The Department continued to see growth in all areas of our service deliverables.  Our long range 
planning and policy development continued to evolve as did our continued commitment to 
customer service.

Staff worked on a number of efficiency projects including a digital building permit process, 
whereby an applicant can conduct business with the Department without having to step into 
the municipal offices.  Parking Enforcement Services increased ease of use for our residents 
and visitors by installing parking meters that now accept both coins and credit card payments. 
The Heritage Permit process was streamlined confirming the Town's commitment to more 
expeditious processing of Heritage Permits allowing us to assist our community with their 
continued commitment to the preservation of their homes and businesses.  

It is with gratitude that I recognize the efforts of citizen volunteers assisting this Department's 
function by serving on the Town's Agricultural Advisory Committee, Committee of Adjustment, 
Glendale Task Force, Municipal Heritage Committee, Sign Committee and Urban Design 
Committee.   

The Town's UNESCO Committee worked very hard, with the support of the Department's staff, 
undertaking research for an application to be listed on Parks Canada's Tentative List of World 
Heritage Sites.  Unfortunately, Parks Canada did not see fit to include the Town in moving 
forward.  Although disappointing, the application process provided the unique opportunity 
to explore and undertake research that has redefined the Town’s understanding of cultural 
heritage across our municipality.

Changes in staff took place within the department during 2017, new staff hired include the 
Administrative Assistant, Planner II, Development Co-ordinator and Building Inspector II.

The Department received 76 development applications, representing a significant increase from 
the 60 applications received in 2016.  These applications included zoning by-law and official plan 
amendments, draft plan of condominium and subdivision, part lot control, site plan approval, 
development agreements and deeming by-laws. Staff also engaged in 132 pre-development 
consultation meetings with residents and developers. 

I look forward to building on our achievements and addressing another successful year in 2018.

Sincerely

Craig Larmour 
Director of Community and 
Development Services

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR
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THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Planning Services 
Building Services 
Parking and By-law Enforcement

COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT

The Town received 33 Concent applications 
and 36 Minor Variance applications.  
Application numbers remain consistent 
with those from 2016. The Committee also 
processed 2 applications for Fence Variance. 

HERITAGE

The conservation of the Town’s heritage is an 
important part of the municipality’s culture.  
Heritage planning staff, as well as the Municipal 
Heritage Committee, promote heritage 
conservation through the documentation and 
protection of heritage sites and the Queen-
Picton District.  Applicable policies help guide 
change to these properties and area.   

The Town approved 9 Heritage Restoration 

Photo credit: ACK Architects, 2017 - Architectural renderings of the St. Davids Commercial redevelopment
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

Grants for a total of $70,000 and issued 37 
Heritage Permits.

Heritage Plaques were presented to the 
following properties:

• 187 Victoria Street, ca 1910

• 239 Wellington Street, ca 1883

• 29 Johnson Street, ca 1900 

• 19 Queen Street, ca  1972 

• 76 Queen Street, ca 1910

Four addresses were presented with the Peter J. 
Stokes Heritage Commendations for compatible 
design, good contemporary design, renovation 
and maintenance:

• 247 Four Mile Creek Road – Renovation and 
Restoration 

• Icellars Estate Winery – Compatible Design

• 343 Queenston Road - Maintenance 

• Wayne Gretzky Estates Winery & Distillery -  
Compatible Design 
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The graphs note that while permit numbers 
saw a slight decrease of 8% from those of 
2016, the construction value was significantly 
higher with a 33% increase from 2016 as a 
result of the size and scope of the projects.  
As a result, the building permit revenue 
generated fees in 2017 that were almost the 
same as those of 2016.

COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

BUILDING 
SERVICES

BUILDING SERVICES

Building staff are responsible for the 
administration and enforcement of the 
Ontario Building Code.  A permit is required 
from Building Services prior to proceeding 
with any construction.  Building staff carry 
out inspections for a number of purposes 
with public service, public health and safety 
being the main concerns.

Department activity is directly related to 
growth.  Statistics Canada reported that 
in 2016, the enumerated population of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake was 17,511 which 
represents a change of 13.7% from 2011 
(the last census year).  This is significant 
when compared to the Ontario average of 
5.0% and the national average of 4.6%.  

This correlates to the increase in the 
number of private dwellings (7,089) and 
represents a change of 19.7% growth from 
2011.
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PARKING & BY-LAW 
ENFORCEMENT

PARKING ENFORCEMENT

The Town’s Parking Enforcement Officers patrol 
and enforce parking by-laws throughout the 
municipality and our Town ambassadors for visitors 
and residents.  

The department is responsible for the maintenance 
and day to day business operations for the 57 “Pay 
and Display” parking meters and 50 single space 
meters throughout the Town. The new single space 
parking meters were installed during 2017.  These 
meters accept both payment methods (coins and 
credit card) whereas the previous meters only 
accepted coins.  

Also, unlike the previous meters, these new ones 
can be monitored through a computer software 
program which staff can access to obtain accurate 
collection totals. During 2017, the officers issued 
and processed 8407 parking infractions.

BY-LAW ENFORCEMENT

The Town oversees the administration of the 
municipality’s regulatory by-laws.  Enforcement 
Officers exercise their authority in administering 
the Town by-laws including such matters as animal 
control, short-term rentals, fences, noise, signs, 
property standards and clean yards.  During 2017, 
officers responded to close to 600 by-law concerns. 
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THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Emergency Management 
Fire Prevention 
Fire Suppression 
Public Education 
 

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

It is an honour and a pleasure to present the Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services 
Annual Report to Council, residents and staff. The provision of Emergency Services is a complex and 
continually evolving field. Looking back on 2017, I am proud of the hard work of our staff and the many 
accomplishments that we achieved. It requires dedicated staff who are willing to adapt to changes, work 
hard and continuously train to meet the needs of the community.

This annual report will provide you with a sense of our accomplishments and show the level of dedication 
our department has to serving our community. Many of these things would not be able to be completed 
without the fine work of our staff, but also without the continued support from Council and the senior 
management team of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake.

This report provides insight into the time, effort and dedication provided to the community by Niagara-
on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services in 2017. The report outlines call volumes, fire prevention 
statistics, public education efforts, professional development achievements and many other significant 
strides that were made over the past year.

The Fire & Emergency Services Department strives to provide the residents and visitors of Niagara-on-
the-Lake with prompt, professional and compassionate service from well trained and well-equipped 
firefighters. We are committed to our role of responding to assist people during their time of need and 
maintain our commitment to provide high level service.

For those who have an opportunity to read this report, I hope it provides a glimpse into the daily 
operations of our Department. It is always an honour and a privilege to open the doors of our 
organization to the people we serve.

Sincerely,

 

Rob Grimwood 
Fire Chief

GREETINGS FROM 
THE FIRE CHIEF
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

2017 ACHIEVEMENTS & 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• Replaced Pumper 1A with a new light rescue 
squad.

• Hosted a successful Council workshop.

• Hired a new Deputy Chief, Training Officer, Fire 
Prevention Officer and Fire Inspector & Public 
Educator. 

• Implemented a Post Traumatic Stress Disorder 
(PTSD) Prevention & Critical Incident Stress 
Management (CISM) Program and peer support 
team.

• Met Fire Prevention Division targets for 
conducting fire safety inspections.  Completed 
fire safety inspections and fire evacuation drills 
at all care occupancies.

• Successfully recruited 16 new volunteer 
firefighters to fill existing vacancies.

• Had an extremely active Fire Safety Public 
Education Program with 51 public education 
events.

• Completed the replacement of a staff 
vehicle, refurbishment of Rescue 3 and the 
implementation of an Emergency Support Unit.

• Achieved compliance with Emergency 
Management Ontario’s municipal requirements, 
including running a successful emergency 
exercise. 

• Implemented new Incident Command SOG’s 
and Incident Command training.

• Upgraded auto extrication equipment at 3 
stations and completed modern accident victim 
extrication training.

• Implemented a successful residential smoke 
and carbon monoxide alarm inspection 
program.

See Appendix A for the full 2017 Fire and Emergency Services Annual Report
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2017 FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPONSE STATISTICS

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services responded to a total of 654 calls in 2017. This was an 
increase of 52 calls from 2016.  

The graph below outlines the total call volume over the last 5 years:

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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CALL TYPES

The chart below depicts the distribution of all emergency responses that Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire re-
sponded to in 2017 by type of call.

*Other: Vehicle Fires-8 
  Elevator Rescues-7 
  Garbage Container/Rubbish Fire-5 
  Water/Ice Rescue-4 
  Arching Hydro Lines-3 
  Rope Rescue-1

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

STATION RESPONSES

There were 959 total responses by Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters in 2017. Several of the 654 calls 
required the response of more than 1 station. These additional responses include the need for multiple 
station responses to complex buildings, highway accidents, structure fires and requests for additional 
personnel.

The below chart shows the distribution of response by station with the breakdown of in district calls, out of 
district calls and highway calls. 
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

STRUCTURE FIRES

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services responded to 9 structure fires in 2017. 

These included:

• 4 kitchen fires (significant damage)

• 2 electrical fires (minor damage)

• 1 basement fire (significant damage)

• 1 garage fire (significant damage)

• 1 fire to the exterior of a house caused by lightning (minor damage)
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OPERATIONS

Welcome! Niagara-on-the-Lake is a truly wonderful place to live and to visit. The Town of Niagara-on-
the-Lake’s Operations Department is proud to build and maintain the infrastructure, operation and 
maintenance off all recreational facilities, parks and municipal properties and services that serve as the 
foundation for our community. We know that what we do is vital to creating a healthy environment, a 
thriving economy and a vibrant community.

As responsible stewards of your infrastructure, we - the employees of the Operations Department - pride 
ourselves on delivering world class service. We strive to have all our interactions and the work we do 
strongly reflect our values of respect, collaboration, innovation and excellence.

If you ever have a question, comment or concern about the Operations Department or the services we 
deliver, please do not hesitate to reach out. I value your feedback and look forward to every opportunity 
for the Operations Department to grow and improve.

Sincerely,

Sheldon Randal 
Director of Operations

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Parks and Recreation 
Public Works 
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2017 GRANTS APPLICATIONS

• TD friends of the Environment – successful – tree planting Upper Canada Heritage Trail

• Canada 150 – successful – 3 projects – Culvert restoration, Voices of Freedom park, 
Courthouse upgrades

• New Horizons Seniors grant – unsuccessful – staffing assistance for Age Friendly initiatives

• Seniors Community Grant – successful – intergenerational cooking classes

• Heritage Canada – Legacy Fund – pending – installation of the artwork for Voices of 
Freedom park

The Parks and Recreation division is responsible for the operation and maintenance of all Town-
owned recreational facilities (arenas, pools, a splash pad, sports fields, recreational complexes, 
Court House, Community Centre), park maintenance (17 parks, 130 acres), Queen Street 
boulevard maintenance and horticultural duties, management of cemeteries (1 operational, 8 
abandoned), and maintenance of all public washrooms and municipal properties. The Parks and 
Recreation division, with assistance from the Community Engagement Coordinator, produces the 
bi-annual Community Guide for social and recreational services.

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION
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COMMUNITIES IN BLOOM

• International Challenge medium 
population winner – rating of five 
blooms gold with special mention for 
Volunteer Leadership.

• Outstanding Achievement award for 
the National Capital Commission Floral 
Displays Award.

• Worked with the TD Friends of the 
Environment Foundation, Niagara 
College, Royal Elite High School, Niagara-
on-the-Lake Rotary, the Town’s Canada 
150 Committee and many more 
volunteers to plant more than 450 trees, 
bringing the three year total to over 
1000 trees planted.

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

2017 PROJECTS

• Doubled capacity of Parks recycling program

• Replaced turf and shrub beds on Queen Street

• Completed phase three of Queen Street flower bed surrounds

• Replaced Queen Street boulevard pavers

• Restored Cenotaph pavers and installed posts and chain

• Installed irrigation system from 45 Queen Street to 23 Queen Street

• Develop new park in St Davids 

• Develop new park in Queenston

• Queenston library floor refinishing

• Add electrical receptacles Queen Street
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE

• Studio Room Renovation - Room is now 
complete with resilient flooring, easy 
music hookups, and mirrors on walls. 
Perfect for yoga, dance, karate, and 
other similar programs.

• Accessible doors and activators 
installed in main washrooms.

• 2017 eventsheld at the Community 
Centre include; Niagara Nursery School 
Bunny Trail (200 + children), Seniors 
Strawberry Social (300 + seniors), Kids 
Halloween party (200 + children).

• Hosted Special Citizenship Ceremony 
on July 1, 2017 and 19 new Canadian 
Citizens were sworn in.

• During the month of December over 
600 lbs of food was donated for 
Community Care through their barrel 
program.

Community Centre Programs

• March Break, Summer and Winter 
Break Camps with an average of 20+ 
campers per day.

• Niagara Healthy Kids Community 
Challenge – Intergenerational Cooking 
Classes that served 18 seniors and 18 
children.

• Established partnership with Jen Olson 
from NOTL Minor Soccer to host an 
indoor soccer program which has 42 
youth participants.

FACILITIES

• Operations Centre - renovated entire 
front section for Operations and Fire 
Departments; renovated mezzanine to 
accommodate additional work stations 
for Town staff and temporary offices for 
Parks Canada.

• Centennial Arena upgrades -lighting 
(converted all lights to LED), 
dehumidification, Olympia door 
replacement, HVAC replacement (lobby), 
and water line replacement.

• Queen’s Royal Park – stair replacement 
with natural stone.

• Courthouse upgrades - painted 
all exterior windows, doors, fascia, 
soffit, fire escapes. HVAC controller 
replacement, and landscape upgrades 
on the North side.

• Relocation of Virgil sign at traffic circle.

Paving projects:

• Administration building lot 

• Glendale/ Niagara College path.

• Sparky’s Park pathways .

• Fire Station 2 parking lot.
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

CEMETERY

• 67 interments and 41 cremations

• Cemetery office & workshop roof 
replacement

• Installation of a new Columbarium – 64 
new spaces available – 13 units already 
sold

• Purchased a lowering device 
replacement and new dump trailer

AQUATICS

• Diving boards replaced at Niagara Pool

Attendance for both pools as noted in chart below 
Pool Programs * Memberships Admissions
Niagara (Memorial) 242 47 4,471
St. Davids 158 37 3,472
Total 400 84 7,943

* Programs include: group lessons, advance programs (Rookie, Ranger, Star), family lessons, 
private & Semi private lessons.
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ENGINEERING

Roads

• Queenston Road - widening and resurfacing 
of 870 metres of road between Concession 
6 Road and Concession 7 Road. The work 
included the addition of bike lanes and 
addition/replacement of guide rails.

• Partition Street -  reconstruction and 
resurfacing of 180 metres of road between 
Niagara River Parkway and Queenston 
Street.

Road resurfacing - milling and resurfacing 
of the following roads:

• 2,500 metres of road on Concession 2 Road 
between Line 3 Road and East and West 
Line Road.

• 400 metres of road on John Street between 
Mississagua Street and Victoria Street.

• Four Mile Creek Road - widening and 
resurfacing of 1,000 metres of road between 
East and West Line Road and Hunter Road.

• 140 metres of road on Melville Street 
between Ricardo Street and Lockhart Street.

Watermains

• Replacement of 745 metres of cast iron and 
asbestos cement mains on Field Road, Elden 
Street, Lakeshore Road and Melville Street.

The Public Works division is responsible for the design, construction, operation, and maintenance 
of the Town’s infrastructure including water distribution, wastewater and storm water collection 
systems, roads, sidewalks, streetlights, transit, municipal drains, irrigation systems, and related 
easements and right-of-ways.

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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Grants

The Town applied for grant funding under the 
Clean Water and Wastewater Fund in late 2016 
which was subsequently approved in July of 
2017 to replace future capital project funded 
cast iron watermains.

Projects were tendered soon after receiving 
approval with construction initiated in late 
2017/early 2018.

Projects Included: 

• Line 3 Road (Concession 1 Road to Niagara 
River Parkway) - replacement of 720 metres 
of asbestos cement mains. (85% Complete)

• Simcoe Street (Johnson Street to Centre 
Street) - replacement of 300 metres of cast 
iron mains. (95% Complete)

• King Street (John Street to Johnson Street) 
- replacement of 750 metres of cast iron 
mains. (75% Complete)

• Centre Street (Regent Street to King Street) 
- replacement of 150 metres of cast iron 
mains. (75% Complete)

• Commons (Wellington Street to Ricardo 
Street - replacement of 825 metres of cast 
iron mains. (70% Complete)

• Total replacement of 2, 745 metres of cast 
iron and asbestos cement mains by the 
spring of 2018.

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Sanitary Sewers

Installation of 95 metres of new sanitary sewer 
on Byron Street between King Street and 
Wellington Street. 

Storm Sewers

• Installation of 115 metres of new storm 
sewer on Byron Street between King Street 
and Wellington Street.

Street lights 

• Conversion of 40 High Pressure Sodium 
streetlights to LED in the Chautauqua Area. 
The conversion program is part of the 
Town’s ongoing plan to convert all of the 
Town’s streetlights to LED which will see 
lower energy costs and longer service life. 
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Trails and Sidewalks

• Installation of new asphalt multi-purpose 
trail on the east side of Niagara Stone Road 
from Henegan Road to Concession 6 Road.

• Installation of new sidewalk on the west side 
of Niagara Stone Road from Crossroads 
School to Concession 6 Road. 

ROADS

• Replaced the 1997 Champion grader with a 
new 2017  670 GP John Deere 

- Reconstruction of Line 8 from Four-mile 
creek to Tanbark 

- Test project utilizing cement stabilization 
of the granular base

- In cooperation with Lafarge Cement and 
the University of Waterloo and Reiner 
Hummel Properties  

- Future monitoring will be done by the 
University of Waterloo in spring of 2018 

- Prior to the traditional next layer of 
surface treatment.

• Winter brought 52 events that required 
sanding and / or plowing.

• The trial of new Nordic snow blades for the 
front snow plows was completed. These 
blades reduced the noise and vibration 
made by the plow, while providing a cleaner 
road surface that results in a reduction of 
the amount of sand required after plowing.  

The trial was successful and we have moved 
forward and outfitted all our units with this 
blade.
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Riffle Pool Functions

• The riffle pools were constructed to:

- help improve the quality of the water in 
the drain by creating some turbulence 
which helps oxygenate the water

- provide an area for sediment to settle

- allow farmers to draw water for irrigation 
without excavating in the bottom of the 
drain

- provide shelter for fish by providing a 
shaded rest area out of the flow along 
one side of the drain   

- meet the environmental sensitivity 
concerns for the drain channel.

• In the drawing of a typical riffle pool 
structure:

- A rock check dam is installed at the 
upstream end of the pool.  The dam is 
constructed of large shot rock which 
creates voids and allows water to 
flow through the dam during low flow 
periods.  During high flow periods, water 
flows over and through the dam, and in 
both cases, turbulence is created which 
serves to oxygenate the water.  The dam 
also serves to trap debris which floats 
down and makes it easier to clean.

- A few metres downstream of the rock 
check dam, the drain bottom is over 
excavated to provide a sediment basin.
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Riffle Pool Functions (continued)

- A few metres downstream of the 
sediment basin, a catch basin is 
installed and a 150mm diameter pipe 
is connected to the catch basin and 
extended to and up the side slope of the 
drain to the top of the bank to provide 
a connection for a farmer’s irrigation 
pump.  The pipe is buried beneath the 
drain bottom and side slope and only 
comes above ground at the top of the 
bank.  A birdcage style grate is installed 
on the top of the catch basin to help 
prevent debris from entering the catch 
basin.  Since the farmer can connect to 
the 150mm pipe to draw water, there 
is no need to excavate a sump hole in 
the bottom of the drain and the farm 
equipment can stay further away from 
the top of the bank thus reducing 
slumping of the side slopes.

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

- A Newbury weir is installed at the 
downstream end of the riffle pool.  This 
consists of a rock structure with a clay 
core to hold back the water in the pool.  
The downstream face of the weir is at 
a minimum 10:1 slope and is dished to 
allow fish to travel upstream.

- A fish shelter made of marine plywood 
is installed within the pool along the 
opposite side from the pipe and covered 
with rocks.  This allows fish to rest in a 
shaded area out of the flow of the main 
channel.

- Rip-rap rock is installed on the side 
slopes in the pool area wherever it is 
required.

• Farmers appear to be well satisfied with 
the riffle pools and the Town has been 
approached about installing more of them.



392017 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

2017 BY THE NUMBERS

1 Newly Renovated Library opened to 
the Public May 8, 2017

1 New Makerspace
1 New Labyrinth
5 Libraries in Niagara Cooperative 

(LINC) launched reciprocal borrow-
ing. NOTLPL members can now 
borrow items from Pelham, Niagara 
College, Lincoln and Fort Erie Public 
Libraries.

6 Author visits 
124 Adult programs 
201 Children’s programs 
674 New memberships

4,145 Card holders 
82,699 Items borrowed 

299,099 Visits (in person and  
online) 

The Niagara-on-the-Lake Public Library is one of the most inclusive of public spaces and strives 
to provide educational, cultural, recreational and social opportunities to all members of the 
community. The Library is comprised of a team of professional staff and community volunteers 
committed to enriching the community by providing access to the world’s ideas and information. 

The NOTL Public Library is an important community hub proactively encouraging community 
connectivity and creative thinking through its quality, future-focused library services. 

Under the Ontario Public Libraries Act, the NOTL Public Library Board is appointed by Town 
Council and responsible for library governance. The Town funds 94% of the library’s budget 
with the balance funded by the Ontario Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport, donations, fees, 
program revenue, grants and book sale proceeds.

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY
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PUBLIC  
LIBRARY

MATERIALS

• Large collection of print material (books, 
magazines, newspapers)

• Extensive e-book collection 
• Audiobook collection 
• DVDs
• Local history material (digital and micro-form) 
• Online databases

SERVICES

• Interlibrary loans

• Homebound delivery to area nursing homes 
and private residences

• Borrowing privileges at all Niagara Falls 
Public Libraries 

• Free wireless internet

• 10 computer workstations 

• Printing, photocopying, scanning and fax 
services

• Collection of online databases

• Fireside and Garden view reading areas

• Separate quiet study area

• Group study tables 

• Smart Locker Pick up and Delivery Service 
available in St. Davids

• 3D Printing

• Embroidery Machine

• VHS to DVD Conversion

• Wood Carving Machinery

PROGRAMS

• Weekly reading readiness programs for 
infants to preschoolers

• Seasonal crafts for children
• Makery workshops
• Minecraft club
• March Break and summer children’s 

programs 
• Knitting Club
• Tech tutoring and adult computer classes
• Health information sessions
• Beer and Books Book Club 
• Wine and Words Author Series 

• Genealogy Workshops

 

RENTALS

• Rotary Room which seats 40 and includes 
access to a kitchenette

• Small meeting room (The Lab) which seats 
up to 10 people 

• Garden Gazebo 



FINANCIAL REPORT
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MESSAGE FROM  
THE TREASURER

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake is pleased to present its Financial Report for the year 
ended December 31, 2017. This report has been prepared by management in accordance 
with the Municipal Act and based on the Canadian public sector accounting standards (PSAS) 
as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of Chartered Professional 
Accountants (CPA) Canada. The Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) serves the public interest 
by establishing standards and guidance for financial reporting by all Canadian entities in the 
public sector and by contributing to the development of internationally accepted public sector 
financial reporting standards.

The Financial Report communicates to stakeholders and residents the Town’s 2017 financial 
performance and information regarding significant financial policies and processes. The 2017 
financial results continue to demonstrate Niagara-on-the-Lake’s commitment to financial 
excellence. 

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake and Niagara Region provide municipal services to Niagara-
on-the-Lake taxpayers. The Niagara Region is exclusively responsible for garbage collection and 
disposal, water treatment, waste water services, policing, and social services. The Town of Niagara-
on-the-Lake’s financial statements do not include the cost of Niagara Region services. 

Niagara-on-the-Lake’s property tax bill includes levies for the Town, Niagara Region, the Province 
of Ontario (for education purposes), and the Niagara Health System. The Town’s 2017 levy impact 
on a typical residential property was approximately 20% of the total property tax bill. 

With each budget cycle, Council and staff carefully review all services areas to improve efficiency 
and value for taxpayers. As a result of this review, the Town was able to limit its property tax bill 
increase to approximately 2.01% on the Town’s portion of the tax bill without compromising 
services. The increase in the total tax bill including the Niagara Region, Education, and Niagara 
Health System was approximately 5.53%. 

While the Town continues to grow, staff must be mindful of spending and it can be challenging 
for a growing town like Niagara-on-the-Lake. Through the use of policies, priorities, and strategic 
plans, Council has established a roadmap for Niagara-on-the-Lake’s continued and future success.  

   
 

Kyle Freeborn, CPA, CMA 
Manager of Finance / Treasurer 



432017 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Canadian Award for Financial Reporting to the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake again this year for its Annual 
Report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. The Canadian Award for Financial Reporting program 
was established to encourage municipal governments throughout Canada to publish high quality financial 
reports and to provide peer recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing these reports.

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial Reporting, a government unit must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized annual financial report, the contents of which must conform to program 
standards. Such reports should go beyond the minimum requirements of generally-accepted accounting 
principles and demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the municipal government’s financial picture, 
enhance an understanding of financial reporting by municipal governments, and address user needs.
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
PROCESSES

Internal Control Management

Management maintains a system of internal 
and administrative controls which are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are properly authorized, that 
assets are accounted for and safeguarded, 
and that financial information is relevant and 
reliable.  

External Audit

The role of the external auditor, KPMG LLP, 
is to present an independent opinion on 
the fair presentation of the Town’s financial 
position and operating results, confirming 
that the statements are free from material 
misstatements. It is the responsibility of 
the auditor to advise management and the 
Finance Advisory Committee of any control or 
operational issues that have been identified 
during the course of the audit.

Financial Statement Preparation

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake management 
is responsible for all information contained 
in the annual Financial Report. The financial 
statements and accompanying notes have been 
prepared using reasonable limits of materiality 
and within the framework of the accounting 
principles and disclosure requirements of the 
CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Finance Advisory Committee

The Finance Advisory Committee is comprised of 
all members of Council. The Chair and Vice Chair 
are appointed annually by Council. The Finance 
Advisory Committee was established in 2015 to 
monitor the full accounting cycle, from budget 
guidance through to the finalization of the fiscal 
year via oversight of the external audit function.

2017 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT OVERVIEW
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2017 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT OVERVIEW

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Municipal Act and based on the reporting standards set by the CPA Canadian 
Public Sector Accounting Board. 

There are four required schedules to form the consolidated financial statements: 

• Statement of financial position

• Statement of operations

• Statement of change in net financial assets

• Statement of cash flows

Together these consolidated financial statements provide information on the cost of Town 
activities, how they were financed, and the assets and liabilities of the Town. The information 
reflects the full nature and extent of the Town’s financial affairs similar to a private sector financial 
statement presentation. 

The following is a high level overview of the 2017 financial results for the Town.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial 
position highlights four key indicators that 
taken together describe the financial position 
of the Town: 

1. cash resources

2. net financial position calculated as the 
difference between financial assets and 
financial liabilities

3. non-financial assets that are normally 
employed for providing services such as 
tangible capital assets

4. accumulated surplus

The Town continues to manage its day-to-
day finances on a cash basis using fund 
accounting, but reports in accordance with 
PSAB. Fund balances are no longer reported 
in the consolidated financial statements and 
have been replaced by accumulated surplus. 
The accumulated surplus summarizes the 
Town’s consolidated equity which identifies 
the financial position, including tangible capital 
assets, and financial resources of the Town. 

Financial Assets

Financial assets in 2017 were $53.8 million 
(2016 - $51.8 million), a $2 million increase 
over the prior year.  This is mostly due to an 
increase in accounts receivable balances, 
monies the Town expects to collect within 
a reasonable time frame, and the Town’s 
investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc., 
which is consolidated with the Town’s financial 
statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-Financial Assets

The largest component of non-financial assets is 
the Town’s investment in tangible capital assets. 
All Town assets at the end of 2017 have been 

inventoried, valued, and recorded in an asset 
registry for accounting and reporting purposes. 
These assets are used to deliver programs and 
services to Town residents, businesses, and 
visitors.

The net book value of tangible capital assets is 
$178.6 million (2016 - $174.4 million).  Historical 
costs are $253.5 million (2016 - $245.1 million) 
and total accumulated amortization was $74.8 
million (2016 - $70.8 million), implying that on 
average 29.5% (2016 - 28.9%) of the estimated 
useful life of Town assets have been utilized 
in the delivery of services. Amortization can 
be useful to estimate future capital spending 
requirements with the understanding that asset 
replacement costs may be significantly higher 
than historical costs.

Liabilities

Liabilities in 2017 were $25.9 million (2016 - 
$24.8 million), an increase of $1 million over 
the prior year. There was no new debt issued in 
2017, the increase is associated with accounts 
payable balances which the Town expects to 
pay within the next year and an increase in 
deferred revenue balances.  Deferred revenue 
is payments received in advance for services 
or goods not yet delivered.  In the Town’s 
case a large portion of this is made up of 
Development Charge Funds for growth related 
infrastructure and services.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Accumulated Surplus

The Town’s accumulated surplus is composed of investments in tangible capital assets, reserve 
and reserve funds, and net equity in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. which is offset by unfunded 
and long-term liabilities. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

The consolidated statement of operations 
reports the annual surplus from operations 
during the accounting period. The statement 
shows the cost of providing Town services, 
the revenue recognized in the period and the 
difference between them. 

Revenues

Revenues in 2017 were $35.3 million (2016 
- $31.8 million), an increase of $3.5 million 
over the prior year. This increase is due to 
higher revenues from taxation, user fees, grant 
revenues, and Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy 
Inc. net income which are offset slightly by 
decreases in penalties and deferred revenue 
recognized. 

• Taxation revenues, which accounts for 
property taxes and taxation from other 
governments, was $11.8 million (2016 - 
$11.3 million), an increase of $0.5 million 
over the prior year. 

• Assessment growth for the Town of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake was 2.9% over the 
prior year. 

• Town Council approved a 2017 budget 
increase which provided a combined 
increase in the Consumer Price Index (1.6%) 
and in the assessment base (2.9%) for a 
total 4.5% increase for a typical residential 
property. Overall, including the Town, 
Niagara Region, the Province of Ontario 
(for education purposes), and the Niagara 
Health System the typical residential 
property experienced a 5.53% increase on 

their property tax bill.  The Town’s Portion 
amounted to 2.01%.

• For the 2017 budget year, the street lighting 
levy was combined with the general levy, 
thereby showing a higher than normal 
increase in the operating levy.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

Expenses

Expenses in 2017 were $29.9 million (2016 - 
$27.8 million), an increase of $2 million over 
the prior year. The increase occurred uniformly 
over all functional areas. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS   
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS   

The consolidated statement of change in net financial assets starts with the annual surplus and 
identifies changes in non-financial assets. This includes tangible capital asset acquisition and 
amortization that will utilize or add to the surplus amount to derive a net change in financial 
assets. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

The consolidated statement of cash flows 
reports changes in cash resulting from 
operations and shows how the Town financed 
its activities during the year and met its cash 
requirements. 

Reserves and Reserve Funds Overview

Although reserves and reserve funds are 
not formally reported directly in the financial 
statements, they are critical to financial 
management. Reserves and reserve fund 
balances form part of the accumulated surplus. 
Refer to note #7 in the financial statements for 
more reserve and reserve fund information. 

Reserves and reserve funds are established 
by Council. These funds are set aside to fund 
capital projects and future obligations. They 
are drawn upon to finance specific initiatives 
as designated by Council to minimize tax rate 
fluctuations due to unanticipated expenditures, 
revenue shortfalls, and ongoing programs. 

Reserve and reserve fund balances at the end 
of 2017 totalled $12.4 million ($11.7 million in 
2016), an increase of $700,000 from the prior 
year. The reserve and reserve fund totals do 
not include development charges or unspent 
government grants as these amounts are 
recorded as deferred revenue on the Statement 
of Financial Positon. Refer to note #4 in the 
financial statements for more deferred revenue 
information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of 
The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The 
Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, the consolidated statements of 
operations, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated statement of financial position of The Corporation of the 
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake as at December 31, 2017, and its consolidated results 
of operations, its consolidated change in net financial assets and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 
May 7, 2018 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
Consolidated Statement of Operations  

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

 

Budget 2017 2016 

(note 12) 
Revenues 

Taxation  $ 11,541,034 $ 11,786,633 $ 11,338,711 
User fees and charges 11,626,501 14,114,544 12,746,106 
Government of Canada grants (note 14) 449,913 1,345,431 474,196 
Province of Ontario grants (note 14) 1,143,477 1,478,502 896,734 
Other municipality funding (note 14) 99,000 153,909 188,485 
Deferred revenues earned 832,039 1,795,008 1,997,029 
Interest and penalties 443,000 323,552 376,336 
Investment income 425,332 556,820 531,874 
Donations 35,000 419,093 197,592 
Contributed assets 167,778 167,778 328,670 
Gain on disposition of tangible capital assets - - 577,292 
Other  2,029,643 1,449,827 1,161,142 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.  

net income (note 2) - 1,663,472 1,010,879 
Total revenues  28,792,717  35,254,569 31,825,046 

Expenses 
General government 2,700,184 2,375,773 2,512,972 
Protection services 2,910,843 3,021,714 2,717,109 
Transportation services 6,101,723 6,765,464 6,154,940 
Environmental services 9,209,667 9,856,149 9,716,949 
Health services 644,229 564,610 539,679 
Recreation 5,444,957 5,542,527 4,734,811 
Planning and development 1,587,337 1,768,481 1,471,811 

Total expenses   28,598,940 29,894,718 27,848,271 

Annual surplus 193,777 5,359,851 3,976,775 

Other comprehensive income of 
 Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. - (107,457) - 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 201,808,375 201,808,375 197,831,600 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $202,002,152  $ 207,060,769 $ 201,808,375 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Annual surplus $ 5,359,851 $ 3,976,775 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (9,716,547) (6,894,243) 
Contributed tangible capital assets (167,778) (328,670) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 5,326,093 5,142,526 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 65,383 2,249,567 
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 284,096 (577,292) 
Other comprehensive income of 
 Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. (107,457) 
Change in inventories and prepaid expenses (123,530) 17,354 

920,111 3,586,017 

Net financial assets, beginning of year 26,987,678 23,401,661 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 27,907,789 $  26,987,678 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

December 31, 2017 with comparative information for 2016 

 

2017 2016 

Operations 
Annual surplus $ 5,359,851 $ 3,976,775 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 5,326,093 5,142,526 
Contributed assets (167,778) (328,670) 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy net income (1,663,472) (1,010,879) 
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 284,096 (577,292) 

9,138,790 7,202,460 
Change in non-cash assets and liabilities: 

Taxes receivable (13,203) 827,347 
Accounts receivable (1,648,994) 109,826 
Inventories and prepaid expenses (123,530) 17,354 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,030,677 (960,920) 
Deferred revenue 619,848 1,033,353 
Post-employment benefits (4,684) 58,049 

Net increase in cash from operations 8,998,904 8,287,469 

Capital  
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 65,383 2,249,567 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (9,716,547) (6,894,243) 

Net decrease in cash from capital activities (9,651,164) (4,644,676) 

Investing  
Dividend received 500,000 500,000 
Increase in short term investments (42,640) - 
Increase in note receivable - (2,250,000)
Decrease in note receivable 827,822 732,234 

Net increase (decrease) in cash from investing 1,285,182 (1,017,766) 

Financing 
Debt principal repayments (590,392) (569,978) 

Net decrease in cash from financing (590,392) (569,978) 

Increase in cash 42,530 2,055,049 

Cash, beginning of year 20,000,557 17,945,508 

Cash, end of year $ 20,043,087 $20,000,557 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the "Town") is a municipality that provides 
municipal services such as fire, public works, planning, parks and recreation, library and other general 

government operations. 

1. Significant accounting policies:

The consolidated financial statements of the Town are prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards (“PSAS”) as recommended by the Public Sector

Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada.  Significant accounting policies adopted by the Town
are as follows:

(a) Basis of consolidation:

(i) Consolidated entities:

These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of the reporting entity. The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations,

committees and local boards accountable for the administration of the Town’s financial
affairs and resources to the Town which are owned or controlled by the Town except for
the Town’s government business enterprise (Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.), which is

accounted for on the modified equity basis of accounting as described below. These
entities and organizations include the Public Library Board.

The investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. ("NOTLEI") is accounted for on a

modified equity basis, consistent with the accounting treatment for government business
enterprises. Under the modified equity basis, the business enterprise's accounting
principles are not adjusted to conform with those of the Town, and inter-organizational

transactions and balances are not eliminated. The Town recognizes its equity interest in
the annual income or loss of NOTLEI in its Consolidated Statement of Operations with a
corresponding increase or decrease in its investment asset account. Any dividends that

the Town may receive from NOTLEI will be reflected as reductions in the investment
account.

(ii) Partial-consolidated entities:

The Niagara District Airport Commission is operated with a joint local board and is
proportionately consolidated. The Town’s share is 6%.

(iii) Accounting for Region and School Board transactions:

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations
of the school boards and the Regional Municipality of Niagara are not reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Trust funds:

Trust funds and their related operations are not included in these consolidated financial
statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(b) Basis of accounting:

The Town follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are
recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as

they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation
of a legal obligation to pay.

(c) Non-financial assets:

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year, and are not
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets

during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the change in
net financial assets for the year.

(i) Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Cost includes all directly attributable
expenditures in the acquisition, construction, development and/or betterment of the asset
required to install the asset at the location.

Amortization is recorded to reflect the cost, net of anticipated residual value, associated
with the use of the asset in providing government services on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset. Assets under construction are not amortized until the

asset is available for productive use, at which time amortization commences. Gains and/or
losses on the disposal of an asset are recorded on the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair market value at
the date of receipt and are also recorded as revenue. Similarly, transfer of assets to third
parties are removed from tangible capital assets and recorded as an expense equal to the

net book value of the asset as at the date of the transfer.

The historical cost of works of art or historical treasures has not been assigned to these
assets nor disclosed on the consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(c) Non-financial assets (continued):

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued):

Asset Class Useful Life (Years) 

General Assets: 
Land improvements 5 to 60 
Buildings and fixtures 5 to 50 
Machinery and equipment 5 to 40 
Information technology 2 to 15 
Vehicles 5 to 20 
Exterior lighting  5 to 50 

Infrastructure: 
Linear 10 to 80 
Street lighting 7 to 60 
Other 7 to 50 

Interest on debt incurred during construction of related tangible capital assets is expensed 

in the statement of operations in the year incurred. Assets under construction are not 
amortized until the asset is available for productive use.  

(ii) Inventories:

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and
replacement cost.

(d) Deferred revenue:

Deferred revenue represents license, permits, grants and other fees which have been
collected, but for which the related services or inspections have yet to be performed. These
amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the services are performed.

(e) Government transfers:

Government transfers received are from federal and provincial governments. Government
transfers are paid to community organizations. Transfers are recognized in the period in which

the events giving rise to the transfers occur, providing the transfers are authorized, eligibility
criteria are met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made except when, and to
the extent that, stipulations by the transferor give rise to an obligation that meet the definition

of a liability. Government transfers that meet the definition of a liability are recognized as
revenue as the liability is extinguished.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
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Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(f) Tax revenue:

Taxes receivable and tax revenue are recognized when they meet the definition of an asset,

the tax is authorized and the taxable event has occurred.

(g) Deferred revenue – obligatory reserve funds:

Deferred revenue – obligatory reserve funds represents development charge contributions,

payments in lieu of parking and parkland and gas tax, levied or received under the authority of
federal and provincial legislation and Town by-laws.  These amounts have been collected but
the related services have yet to be performed.  These amounts will be recognized as revenue

in the fiscal year the services are performed.

(h) Investment income:

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the funding

government or provincial legislation, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added
to the investment and forms part of the deferred revenue balance.

(i) Other income:

Other income is recognized as revenue when the service is performed.

(j) Short-term investments:

Investments are recorded at amortized cost.  Discounts and premiums arising on the purchase

of these investments are amortized over the term of the investments.  When there has been a
loss in value that is other than a temporary decline in value, the respective investment is written
down to recognize the loss.

(k) Post-employment benefits:

(i) The Town provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods.
These benefits include long-term disability, benefits under the Workplace Safety and

Insurance Board (“WSIB”) Act, and extended health and dental benefits for early retirees.

The costs of life insurance, benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board Act,
life insurance, and extended health and dental benefits are actuarially determined using

management’s best estimate of salary escalation, earned days accumulated for certain
employees payable at retirement, health care cost trends, long term inflation rates and
discount rates.

For self-insured retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulate over
the periods of service provided by employees, such as service payments and health and
dental benefits for retirees, the cost is actuarially determined using the projected benefits

method prorated on service.  Under this method, the benefit costs are recognized over the
expected average service life of the employee group.  Any actuarial gains and losses
related to the past service of employees are amortized over the expected average

remaining service life of the employee group.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
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Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(k) Post-employment benefits (continued):

For those self-insured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from 
time to time, such as obligations for workers' compensation and life insurance and health 
care benefits for those on disability leave, the cost is recognized immediately in the period 

the events occur.  Any actuarial gains and losses that are related to these benefits are 
recognized immediately in the period they arise. 

(ii) The costs of multi-employer defined benefit pension plan benefits, such as the Ontario

Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS") pensions, are the employer's
contributions due to the plan in the period. OMERS has been accounted for as a defined
contribution plan since it is a multi-employer plan.

(l) Note receivable

The note receivable is valued at cost. Recoverability is assessed annually and a valuation
allowance is recorded when recoverability is impaired. The note receivable is written off when

it is no longer recoverable. Recoveries of note receivable previously written off are recognized
in the year received. Interest revenue is recognized as it is earned. Note receivable with
significant concessionary terms, (such as non-interest bearing notes) are accounted for as a

grant which is shown as an expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

(m)  Use of estimates:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with PSAS requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates include

assumptions used in estimation provisions for accrued liabilities and in performing actuarial
valuations of post-employment benefits liability. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
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2. Investments in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.:

Summary financial information is as follows:

Financial Position:
2017 2016 

Assets: 
Current $ 6,494,120 $ 6,624,809 
Capital 29,775,011 28,505,038 
Other non-current 5,855,004 5,108,685 
Regulatory balances 1,068,620 1,958,094 

Total assets and regulatory balances $ 43,192,755 $ 42,196,626 

Liabilities: 
Current $ 5,841,389 $ 5,010,373 
Notes payable to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 8,478,901 9,306,708 
Long-term debt 3,319,704 3,730,791 
Other 4,646,639 3,945,266 
Regulatory balances 2,150,787 2,504,168 

Equity  18,755,335 17,699,320 
Total liabilities, regulatory balances and equity $ 43,192,755 $ 42,196,626 

Operations: 
2017 2016 

Revenue $ 30,032,414 $ 32,058,866 
Expenses (including income tax provision) 27,832,849 31,317,664 
Net movement in regulatory balances (net of tax) (536,093) 269,677 
Net income and net movement in regulatory balances  1,663,472 1,010,879 
Other comprehensive income (107,457) - 
Dividend paid to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (500,000) (500,000) 
Change in investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 1,056,015 $ 510,879 

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake investment represented by: 
2017 2016 

Investment in shares of the Corporation $ 7,054,844 $ 7,054,844 
Accumulated net income, net of dividends received 11,700,900 10,644,885 
Total investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 18,755,744 $ 17,699,729 

The investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. is represented by 1,001 common shares of the 
company
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3. Note receivable:

The notes receivable are comprised of the following:

2017 2016 

Note 1 $ 2,433,659 $ 2,745,210 
Note 2 2,239,035 2,514,985 
Note 3 1,616,207 1,796,528 
Note 4 2,190,000 2,250,000 

$ 8,478,901 $ 9,306,723 

Note 1 bears interest at 7.25%, notes 2 to 4 bear interest at 3%.  Note 1 has no fixed terms of 
payment and notes 2 to 4 are due on demand.  The Town was provided an assignment and 
postponement of claim for demand installment loans of Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.  The notes 

are unsecured. 

4. Deferred revenue:

A requirement of PSAS is that obligatory reserve funds be reported as deferred revenue. These
reserve funds are considered obligatory as Provincial legislation restricts how these funds may be

used and, under certain circumstances, when these funds will be refunded.

In the case of development charges, revenue recognition occurs after the funds have been
collected and when the Town has approved the expenditures and used the funds for the capital

project for which the development charges were raised. These funds have been set aside, as
required by the Development Charges Act, to support the cost of growth related capital projects
associated with new development.

The deferred revenues are made up of the following:

Externally 
restricted Revenue 

2016 inflows earned 2017 

Building permit surplus $ 1,965,593 $ 375,305 $ 778,129 $ 1,562,769 
Canada gas tax 22,296 476,497 457,438 41,355 
Cash-in-lieu of parking 386,064 - - 386,064 
Development charges 8,656,526 1,898,417 832,039 9,722,904 
Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund 42,297 366,001 408,298 -
Recreational land 574,774 183,987 184,840 573,921 
Other deferred 327,507 - 19,615 307,892 

$11,975,057 $ 3,300,207 $ 2,680,359 $ 12,594,905 
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5. Employee benefits and other liabilities:

The Town provides certain employees benefits which will require funding in future periods. These

benefits include sick leave, benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance ("WSIB") Act, and
life insurance, extended health, and dental benefits to early retirees.

2017 2016 

Retiree benefits $ 582,087 $ 552,540 
Accrued vacation pay 270,712 246,448 
Accumulated sick leave 37,992 40,723 
Future payments required to WSIB 225,671 281,435 

$ 1,116,462 $ 1,121,146 

Information about the Town’s benefit plans is as follows: 

2017 2016 

Accrued benefit obligation: 
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,075,764 $ 1,025,473 
Current benefit cost (4,799) 52,753 
Interest 24,531 23,619 
Benefits paid (31,994) (26,081) 
Balance, end of year 1,063,502 1,075,764 

Unamortized actuarial gain 53,140 45,382 

Liability for benefits $ 1,116,642 $ 1,121,146 

Amortization of the actuarial gain of $7,758 (2016 - $7,757) has been included in expenses on the 

Statement of Operations. 

(i) Accumulated Sick Leave

Under the Town’s sick leave benefit plan, employees can choose either carry forward up to 5
unused days to the next year, have all unused credits paid out at the end of the year, or any
combination of the two choices.  Credits are paid out at 50%.  The accrued benefit obligation

and the expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 were determined by an actuarial
review.  The last actuarial valuation was performed on December 31, 2014.
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5. Employee benefits and other liabilities (continued):

(ii) Retiree Benefits

The Town pays health care, dental, travel and life insurance benefits for early retirees to age
65. The Town recognizes these post-retirement costs in the period in which the employees
rendered the services. The accrued benefit liability and the expense for the year ended

December 31, 2017 were determined by an actuarial review and analysis of changes made to
plans since the last valuation. The last actuarial valuation was performed as at December 31,
2014.

(iii) Accrued WSIB

The Town has elected to be treated as a Schedule 1 employer for the purposes of WSIB where
a premium is paid to cover the Town's responsibilities under the Workplace Safety and

Insurance Board Act ("WSIB"). WSIB has provided the Town an estimate of the value of the
future benefits for which the Town is responsible.

(iv) Actuarial Assumptions

The main actuarial assumptions employed for the valuations are as follows:

Interest (discount rate):

The accrued benefit obligation was determined using a discount rate of 4.5% (2016 – 4.5%).

Inflation:

Inflation was assumed to be 2% (2016 – 2%).

Medical, dental and travel costs:

Medical, dental and travel costs are assumed to increase at a rate of 5.109% per year reducing
by 0.2223% per year over 5 years to 4.0% in 2020 and to 4.0% per year thereafter.

Salary escalations:

Future salary has been assumed to escalate at a rate of 3.0% per year (2016 – 3%).

(v) Pension Agreements

The Town makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund

("OMERS"), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit
plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees
based on the length of service and rates of pay.

The amount contributed to OMERS for 2017 was $639,057 (2016 - $597,455) for current
service and is included as an expenditure in the consolidated statement of operations.
Employees' contribution to OMERS in 2017 was $639,057 (2016 - $597,455).

Contributions for employees with a normal retirement age of 65 were being made at a rate of
9% for earnings up to the yearly maximum pensionable earnings of $54,900 and at a rate of
14.6% for earnings greater than the yearly maximum pensionable earnings.
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5. Employee benefits and other liabilities (continued):

(v) Pension Agreements (continued)

The OMERS pension plan has a deficit at December 31, 2017 of $5.4 billion (2016 - $5.7 billion)
based on an actuarial valuation of plan assets.

6. Net long-term liabilities:

(a) The balance of net long-term liabilities reported on the consolidated statement of financial
position is made up of the following:

2017 2016 

The Town has assumed responsibility for the 
payment of principal and interest charges on 
certain long-term liabilities issued by other 
municipalities.  $ 3,047,855 $ 3,649,106 

Of the long-term liabilities shown above, the  
responsibility for payment of principal and interest 
charges for tile drainage, have been assumed 
by individuals. (40,737) (51,596) 

Net long-term liabilities, end of year $ 3,007,118 $ 3,597,510 

(b) The long-term liabilities in (a) issued in the name of the municipality have received approval of

the Ontario Municipal Board for those approved on or before December 31, 1992. Those
approved after January 1, 1993 have been approved by by-law. The annual principal and
interest payments required to service these liabilities are within the annual debt repayment limit

prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing.

(c) Of the net long-term liabilities reported in (a) of this note, principal payments are as follows:

2018 $ 611,436 
2019 436,157 
2020 451,604 
2021 232,949 
2022 241,279 
Thereafter 1,033,693 

$ 3,007,118 

(d) Interest charges on long-term debt in the amount of $131,490 (2016 - $153,324) are included

on the Consolidated Statement of Operations, classified under the appropriate functional

expense heading. The long-term debt bears interest at rates ranging from 1.35% to 10.45%
payable semiannually.  The long-term liabilities mature at various times up to 2030.
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7. Accumulated surplus:

2017 2016 

Invested in tangible capital assets $ 178,633,477 $ 174,424,724 
Operating fund  1,387,589  2,668,367 

Reserves and reserve funds  12,407,539  11,734,211 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc., net equity  18,755,744  17,699,729 

211,184,349 206,527,031 
Amounts to be recovered 

Post-employment benefits (1,116,462)  (1,121,146) 
Net long-term liabilities (3,007,118)  (3,597,510) 

(4,123,580)  (4,718,656) 

$ 207,060,769 $ 201,808,375 
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7. Accumulated surplus (continued):

Reserve and reserve balances:

2017 2016 

Reserves set aside by Council for specific purposes: 
Base mapping $ 7,000 $ 7,000 
Bridges and culverts 110,837 69,010 
Building vehicle and equipment 24,198 - 
By-law vehicle and equipment 46,000 - 
Capital levy 2,729,881 2,962,817 
Capital variance 64,310 133,133 
Community centre 60,773 85,773 
Contingencies 325,786 325,786 
Corporate studies 328,620 389,622 
Dock area improvement 391,934 715,737 
Donations  27,131 23,034 
Election expenses 49,234 30,234 
Fleet replacement 267,079 - 
Grant and other 4,468 (14,179) 
Irrigation 284,385 99,700 
Ontario disabilities 96,875 104,217 
OMB appeals 200,000 200,000 
Parking revenue 1,068,996 1,030,613 
Replacement of building department equipment - 39,777
Replacement of fleet equipment - 374,287
Replacement of protection services equipment - 40,000
Road improvements - 25,175
Sidewalk improvements - 109,779
Storm water management 712 (59,179)
Street lighting 18,494 (168,506)
Training and development 11,857 11,857 
Tax rate stabilization 150,000 - 
Underfunded capital (469,171) - 
Wastewater capital improvements 1,847,813 1,152,102 
Wastewater rate stabilization 228,428 228,428 
Water capital improvements 4,038,606 3,177,868 
Water rate stabilization 194,486 194,486 
Winter maintenance 85,192 85,192 
Working funds 100,000 100,000 
Total reserves 12,293,924 11,473,763 

Reserve funds set aside by Council for specific purposes: 
Bequest/Garden 3,770 6,387 
Library development and computer 47,890 67,743 
Library donations 5,345 129,707 
Recreation enhancement 56,610 56,611 

113,615 260,448 
Total reserves and reserve funds $ 12,407,539 $ 11,734,211 
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8. Commitments:

(a) Capital expenditures

The estimated future capital expenditures based on projects in progress at December 31, 2017
is approximately $5,577,463 (2016 - $2,766,647) after deducting the expenditures incurred as
at December 31, 2017.  These projects will be financed by grants, subsidies and long-term

liabilities in future years.

(b) Niagara Health System

The Town is currently committed to funding $3,500,000 of the local share of the construction

costs of the Niagara Health System (“NHS”) hospital located in St. Catharines.  The Town has
approved a plan to fund this commitment through annual tax levies in the years 2011 to 2031.
The plan is dependent upon future councils approving this levy on an annual basis.  A balance

of $2,181,944 is owing on this commitment at December 31, 2017 (2016 - $2,469,895)

9. Contingent liabilities

From time to time, the Town is subject to claims and other lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course

of business, some of which may seek damages in substantial amounts, including punitive or
extraordinary damages.  In respect of any outstanding claims, the Town believes that insurance
coverage is adequate and that no material exposure exists on the eventual settlement of such

litigation, therefore no provision has been made in the accompanying financial statements.

10. Contributions to Joint Board:

The following contributions were made by the Town to:

2017 2016 

Niagara District Airport Commission $ 42,756 $ 49,858 

The Town’s share of the net assets of the Niagara District Airport Commission is approximately 
6%. 

11. Segmented reporting:

The Town is a lower tier municipal government that provides a wide range of services to its citizens.
Segmented information has been identified based on functional classification as categorized by the
Financial Information Return. These classifications are as follows:

(i) General Government:

The mandate of this functional area is to provide political governance, administrative executive
management and those expenses and revenues which are corporate in nature and cannot be

easily apportioned to other departments. Reported in this functional area are departments such
as Council, Clerks, CAO, Finance, Human Resources, Legal, Information Systems and Capital
Assets.
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11. Segmented reporting (continued):

(ii) Protection services:

Reported in this functional area are Fire and Building Services. The mandate of Fire Services
is to provide emergency services through a range of services to protect the lives and property
of the inhabitants of the Town. The mandate of Building Services is to inform and assist

customers to ensure safe and orderly development and provide efficient delivery of building
approvals, inspections and management systems.

(iii) Transportation services:

Reported in this functional area are Roads and Works. The mandate for Roads and Works is
to provide quality road and traffic maintenance and operations to the residents and businesses
of the Town. This area is also responsible for winter control.

(iv) Environment services:

Reported in this functional area are Sanitary, Storm and Water Systems. The mandate is to
provide a safe and reliable water resource system and is responsible for the maintenance and

operation of the systems and monitoring and administering environmental programs.

(v) Health services:

Reported in this functional area is Cemetery Services.  The mandate is to ensure the benefit

and protection of each citizen who has purchased or has an interest in internment rights within
each cemetery.

(vi) Recreation:

Reported in the functional area are Parks, Recreation and Culture.  The Parks department is
responsible for the maintenance, improvement and beautification of various parks as well as
the planning and construction of new parkland and open space.  The Recreation and Culture

departments are responsible for the delivery of various related programs and the provision of
facilities as well as the support of groups and organizations throughout the Municipality.

(vii) Planning and Development:

Reported in this functional area are Planning and Development.  Planning creates the policy
framework and implementation tools required to shape the future of the Town.  Development
is responsible for ensuring that the Town’s land development standards are achieved on all

development applications.

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly 
attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis.  The accounting 

policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

11. Segmented reporting (continued):

2017 

General 

Government Protection Transportation Environment Health Recreation 

Planning and 

Development Total 

Revenues: 

Taxation $  4,015,323 $ 1,408,780 $ 3,106,876 $ - $ 109,495 $  2,769,417 $ 376,742 $ 11,786,633 

User fees and charges 205,866 681,935 2,027,615 9,628,027 183,596 356,804 1,030,701 14,114,544 

Government grants 590,168 40,168 1,060,621 562,673 - 673,071 51,141 2,977,842 

Other 4,544,300 - - - - - - 4,544,300 

Contributed assets 167,778 - - - - - - 167,778 

Government business enterprise 1,663,472 - - - - - - 1,663,472 

Total revenues 11,186,907 2,130,883 6,195,112 10,190,700 293,091 3,799,292 1,458,584 35,254,569 

Expenses: 

Salaries and wages 2,530,127 1,634,305 1,906,734 735,347 152,073 2,213,674 960,303 10,132,563 

Operating materials and supplies 538,193 465,521 977,655 200,502 85,079 1,419,459 271,988 3,958,397 

Contracted services 423,213 111,289 1,852,963 5,767,689 850 552,934 313,627 9,022,565 

Rents and financial expenses 199,524 - - 12,635 - 7,563 - 219,722

Interfunctional transfers (2,353,820) 343,639 381,670 993,092 22,199 471,564 141,656 - 

Amortization 267,767 449,198 1,622,095 2,090,371 16,458 876,433 3,771 5,326,093 

Loss on sale of tangible capital assets 284,096 - - - - - - 284,096 

External transfers 456,901 - - - 287,951 900 74,040 819,792 

Debt service 29,772 17,762 24,347 56,513 - - 3,096 131,490 

Total expenses 2,375,773 3,021,714 6,765,464 9,856,149 564,610 5,542,527 1,768,481 29,894,718 

Annual surplus (deficit) $  8,811,134 $ (890,831) $ (570,352) $ 334,551 $ (271,519) $  (1,743,235) $ (309,897) $ 5,359,851 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

11. Segmented reporting (continued):

2016 

General 

Government Protection Transportation Environment Health Recreation 

Planning and 

Development Total 

Revenues: 

Taxation $  4,088,764 $ 2,016,425 $ 2,368,998 $ - $ 83,139 $ 2,392,504 $ 388,891 $ 11,338,721 

User fees and charges 240,428 638,590 1,272,367 9,494,264 162,765 312,560 625,132 12,746,106 

Government grants 641,019 43,520 790,936 - - 49,805 34,135 1,559,415 

Other 4,841,255 - - - - - - 4,841,255 

Contributed assets 328,670 - - - - - - 328,670 

Government business enterprise 1,010,879 - - - - - - 1,010,879 

Total revenues 11,151,015 2,698,535 4,432,301 9,494,264 245,904 2,754,869 1,048,158 31,825,046 

Expenses: 

Salaries and wages 2,750,354 1,454,200 2,013,307 666,666 100,315 2,102,829 891,868 9,979,539 

Operating materials and supplies 625,937 395,246 902,147 735,337 111,877 1,335,556 183,380 4,289,480 

Contracted services 405,959 90,021 1,349,804 5,189,948 3,122 51,906 205,191 7,295,951 

Rents and financial expenses 256,682 - 8,448 16,827 - 4,500 - 286,457

Interfunctional transfers (2,216,187) 329,936 327,620 1,017,746 21,236 395,826 123,823 - 

Amortization 308,449 421,860 1,523,353 2,027,849 15,178 843,294 2,542 5,142,525 

Loss on sale of tangible capital assets - - - - - - - - 

External transfers 351,156 - - - 287,951 900 60,988 700,995 

Debt service 30,622 25,846 30,261 62,576 - - 4,019 153,324 

Total expenses 2,512,972 2,717,109 6,154,940 9,716,949 539,679 4,734,811 1,471,811 27,848,271 

Annual surplus (deficit) $  8,638,043 $ (18,574) $ (1,722,639) $  (222,685) $ (293,775) $  (1,979,942) $ (423,653) $ 3,976,775 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

12. Budget data:

The audited budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements are based upon the
2017 operating and capital budgets approved by Council. The chart below reconciles the approved

budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated financial statements. Budgets
established for tangible capital asset acquisitions are on a project-oriented basis, the costs of which
may be carried out over one or more years. Where amounts were budgeted for on a project-oriented

basis, the actual amounts for 2017 were used in order to adjust the budget numbers to reflect the
same basis of accounting that was used to report the actual results. In addition, to ensure
comparability of expenses, the allocation of program support costs completed for actual reporting

was also applied to the budget amounts.

The chart below reconciles the approved budget figures reported on the Consolidated Statement
of Operations.

Budget Amount 

Revenue: 
Operating budget as approved $  30,070,529 

Add: 
Development charges 832,039 
Contributed capital assets 167,778 
Gain on sale of TCA - 
Building Code Act 666,680 
Recreational Land (the Planning Act) 184,839 

Less: 
Transfers from other funds (2,317,611) 
Principal and dividends from NOTLEI (811,537) 

Total revenue 28,792,717 

Expenses: 
Operating budget as approved 30,070,529 

Add: 
Amortization 5,326,092 
Capital projects resulting in operating expenses 163,670 
Transfers from capital 284,094 

Less: 
Transfer to reserves, including capital (6,650,368) 
Employee future benefits (4,684) 
Debt principal payments (590,393) 

Total expenses 28,598,940 

Annual surplus $ 193,777 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

13.  Tangible capital assets:

(a) Work in progress:

Work in progress having a value of $5,379,722 (2016 - $2,311,956) is not depreciated.
Depreciation of these assets commence when the assets are placed in service. No interest

was capitalized during the period.

(b) Contributed capital assets:

Contributed capital assets are recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution. The

value of contributed assets during the year is $167,778 (2016 - $328,670). In 2017, parcels of
land were transferred to the Town which service various developments.  The lands contributed
provide servicing for storm sewer systems, walkways and trails, and parkland.

(c) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values:

Where an estimate of fair market value could not be made for a tangible capital asset, the asset
was recognized at a nominal value. Nominal values totaling $131 have been assigned to

Buildings, Land, Machinery and Equipment, Land Improvements, and Linear Asset categories.

(d) Works of art and historical treasures:

No works of art or historical treasures are held by the Town.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

13. Tangible capital assets (continued):

2017 
General 

Opening 
NBV 

Opening 
Cost Additions Disposals 

Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization Amortization Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization Total 

Land $   5,696,871 $   5,696,871 $  167,778 $ - $    5,864,649 $ - $ - $ - $ - $   5,864,649

Land improvements  2,879,481 4,638,090 78,411 52,883 4,663,618 1,758,609 193,355 52,883 1,899,081 2,764,537 

Buildings and fixtures 15,348,810 24,816,374 1,097,966 518,807 25,395,533 9,467,564 641,029 311,388 9,797,205 15,598,328 

Machinery and equipment 3,011,839 5,218,139 1,061,441 202,302 6,077,278 2,206,300 350,087 174,779 2,381,608 3,695,670 

Vehicles 3,919,369 7,814,831 897,804 181,892 8,530,743 3,895,462 535,157 181,892 4,248,727 4,282,016 

Information technology 576,063 1,760,716 145,058 288,301 1,617,473 1,184,653 215,197 286,354 1,113,496 503,977 

Exterior lighting 1,499,145 2,637,917 330,177 14,561 2,953,533 1,138,772 145,535 13,446 1,270,861 1,682,672 

Subtotal:  General assets 32,931,578 52,582,938 3,778,635 1,258,746 55,102,827 19,651,360 2,080,360 1,020,742 20,710,978 34,391,849 

Infrastructure 

Linear assets  134,859,006 183,852,300 2,927,662 271,310 186,508,652 48,993,294 3,092,576 165,072 51,920,798 134,587,854 

Streetlighting 1,652,698 2,433,205 23,150 - 2,456,355 780,507 70,739 - 851,246 1,605,109 

Other 2,669,486 4,004,305 87,112 65,788 4,025,629 1,334,819 82,418 60,551 1,356,686 2,668,943 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets 139,181,190 190,289,810 3,037,924 337,098 192,990,636 51,108,620 3,245,733 225,623 54,128,730 138,861,906 

Work in progress 

Opening balance 2,311,956 2,311,956 9,884,325 - 12,196,281 - - - - - 

Internally transferred - - (6,816,559) - (6,816,559) - - - - - 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 2,311,956 2,311,956 3,067,766 - 5,379,722 - - - - 5,379,722 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2017 

$174,424,724 $ 245,184,704 $9,884,325 $1,595,844 $253,473,185 $ 70,759,980 $   5,326,093 $1,246,365 $ 74,839,708 $178,633,477 

2017 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 78



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

13. Tangible capital assets (continued):

2016 
General 

Opening 
NBV 

Opening 
Cost Additions Disposals 

Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization Amortization Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization Total 

Land $     5,396,569 $     5,396,569 $   359,767 $     59,465 $5,696,871 $ - $ - $ - $ - $   5,696,871

Land improvements  2,653,229 4,229,127 414,063 5,100 4,638,090 1,575,898 182,711 - 1,758,609 2,879,481 

Buildings and fixtures 17,490,707 26,368,997 74,334 1,626,957 24,816,374 8,878,291 670,621 81,348 9,467,564 15,348,810 

Machinery and equipment 3,163,789 5,104,245 167,843 53,949 5,218,139 1,940,456 310,053 44,209 2,206,300 3,011,839 

Vehicles 3,501,446 7,087,696 915,197 188,062 7,814,831 3,586,250 489,765 180,553 3,895,462 3,919,369 

Information technology 636,652 1,776,285 161,479 177,048 1,760,716 1,139,633 217,854 172,834 1,184,653 576,063 

Exterior lighting 1,535,898 2,623,743 104,606 90,432 2,637,917 1,087,845 141,359 90,432 1,138,772 1,499,145 

Subtotal:  General assets 34,378,290 52,586,662 2,197,289 2,201,013 52,582,938 18,208,373 2,012,363 569,376 19,651,360 32,931,578 

Infrastructure 

Linear assets  132,156,666 178,248,164 5,715,846 111,710 183,852,300 46,091,497 2,972,869 71,072 48,993,294 134,859,006 

Streetlighting 1,621,508 2,333,582 99,623 - 2,433,205 712,074 68,433 - 780,507 1,652,698 

Other 2,617,934 3,863,892 140,413 - 4,004,305 1,245,958 88,861 - 1,334,819 2,669,486 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets 136,396,108 184,445,638 5,955,882 111,710 190,289,810 48,049,529 3,130,163 71,072 51,108,620 139,181,190 

Work in progress 

Opening balance 3,242,214 3,242,214 7,222,913 - 10,465,127 - - - - - 

Internally transferred - - (8,153,171) - (8,153,171) - - - - - 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 3,242,214 3,242,214 (930,258) - 2,311,956 - - - - 2,311,956 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2016 

$ 174,016,612 $ 240,274,514 $7,222,913 $2,312,723 $245,184,704 $ 66,257,902 $ 5,142,526 $  640,448 $ 70,759,980 $174,424,724 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

14. Government transfers:

Government transfers do not include payment in lieu of taxes received from Federal and Provincial
governments.  These amounts are included with taxation revenue on the Consolidated Statement

of Operations:

Budget 2017 2016 

Operating transfers: 
Federal $ 4,000 $ 16,500 $ 28,283 
Provincial 777,476 776,295 743,786 
Upper-Tier/Other Municipalities 99,000 153,909 188,485 

880,476 946,704 960,554 

Capital transfers: 
Federal 445,913 1,328,931 445,913 
Provincial 366,001 702,207 152,948 

811,914 2,031,138 598,861 
Total transfers $ 1,692,390 $ 2,977,842 $ 1,559,415 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
SCHEDULE OF LIBRARY FUND ACTIVITIES 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

 

Budget 2017 2016 

Revenues: 
Development charges $ - $ 56,887 $ 113,173
Municipal grant 622,539 622,539 585,854 
Donations 3,000 162,533 138,870 
Provincial grants 35,746 250,078 38,026 
Miscellaneous - 19,998 19,524 
Other grants 29,800 10,911 8,873 

691,085 1,122,946 904,320 

Expenditures: 
Amortization - 105,551 94,639 
Insurance 6,000 6,493 6,117 
Licensing and computer support 13,600 12,151 8,328 
Memberships 1,800 1,450 1,684 
General library expenses 23,100 20,200 21,508 
Office supplies 39,200 56,149 47,524 
Professional development 5,500 4,677 4,839 
Professional fees 1,000 1,146 1,755 
Program expenditures 7,500 9,239 8,019 
Public relations 3,000 2,153 5,282 
Rent 60,000 60,000 60,000 
Telephone 1,800 2,795 2,383 
Wage and benefits 517,965 520,809 478,957 
Workshops  3,000 3,328 1,917 

683,465 806,141 742,952 

Annual surplus 7,620 316,805 161,368 

Add:  Amortization of tangible capital assets - 105,551 94,639 
Less:  Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (909,377) (64,217) 
Transfers to reserve fund 28,750 384,767 (18,293) 
Adjusted annual (deficit) surplus $ 36,370 $ (102,254) $ 173,497 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The Town of Niagara-on-
the-Lake 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the trust funds of The 
Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2017, the statements of operations and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
statement of financial position of the trust funds of The Corporation of the Town of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake as at December 31, 2017, and its results of operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 
May 7, 2018 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Financial Position – Trust Funds 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative figures for 2016 

Cemetery Cemetery 
Care & Preneeds 2017 2016 

Maintenance Internments Total Total 

Assets 

 Cash   $ 915,415 $ 147,947 $1,063,362 $ 1,007,553 

Liabilities 

Due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 6,691 (189) 6,502 (15,011) 
$ 908,724 $ 148,136 $1,056,860 $ 1,022,564 

Fund Balances 

Fund balances $ 908,724 $ 148,136 $1,056,860 $ 1,022,564 

$ 908,724 $ 148,136 $1,056,860 $ 1,022,564 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Operations – Trust Funds 

Year ended December 31, 2017, with comparative figures for 2016 

Cemetery Cemetery 
Care &  Preneeds 2017 2016 

Maintenance Internments Total Total 

Balance, beginning of year $ 876,160 $ 146,404 $1,022,564 $ 988,282 

Receipts: 
Care & maintenance agreements 32,564 - 32,564   32,894 
Interest earned 10,000 1,732 11,732 9,527 

42,564 1,732 44,296 42,421 

Expenditures: 
Interest transferred to:  

Cemetery maintenance 10,000 - 10,000 8,139 
10,000 - 10,000 8,139 

Excess of receipts over expenditures 32,564 1,732 34,296 34,282 

Fund balance, end of year $ 908,724 $ 148,136 $1,056,860 $ 1,022,564 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Cash Flows – Trust Funds 

December 31, 2017 with comparative information for 2016 

2017 2016 

Operations: 
Excess of receipts over expenditures $ 34,296 $ 34,282 

Sources (Uses): 
Change in due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 21,513 (23,118) 

21,513 (23,118) 

Increase in cash 55,809 11,164 

Cash, beginning of year 1,007,553 996,389 

Cash, end of year $ 1,063,362 $ 1,007,553 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Trust Funds Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

1. Significant accounting policies:

The financial statements of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the “Town”) trust
funds are prepared by management prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards (“PSAS”) established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada.

(a) Basis of accounting:

(i) Receipts and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.

(ii) The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and

measurable; expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result
of the receipt of goods and services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2017 2016                   2015                   2014                   2013                   

General Statistics

Households 6,919                              7,090                  6,446                  6,115                  5,969                  

Population 17,511                            17,511                15,400                15,400                15,400                

Municipal Workforce Profile

Full-time Positions 93 88                       87                       81                       83                       
Contract Employees 86 77                       75                       78                       78                       

Number of Lane Kilometres in Road System 475 472                     472                     466                     461                     

Total Hectares in the Town 13283 13,283                13,283                13,283                13,283                

Number of Building Permits Issued 568 616                     727                     766                     538                     

Total Value of Building Permits Issued $133,955,727 $101,199,425 $126,931,702 $150,906,774 $184,947,270
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2017 2016                   2015                   2014                   2013                   

Taxation Statistics

Taxable Assessment

Residential 3,442,759,833                3,241,162,167    3,017,517,661    2,832,095,981    2,681,231,058    
Multi-Residential 15,947,775                     15,706,000         12,955,555         16,259,138         14,263,765         
Commercial 652,795,316                   611,146,767       577,696,514       417,325,855       387,610,987       
Industrial 42,496,131                     39,659,308         36,431,133         35,724,143         32,015,094         
Farmland 401,259,800                   333,741,525       348,733,781       332,748,056       320,372,663       
Pipeline 16,777,750                     16,111,000         15,748,713         15,145,000         14,784,250         
Managed Forests 666,225                          541,800              512,525              483,250              453,975              

4,572,702,830                4,258,068,567    4,009,595,882    3,649,781,423    3,450,731,792    

Tax Levy

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 11,179,872                     10,668,156         10,196,916         9,386,053           8,957,194           
Niagara Region 30,144,564                     28,840,572         27,575,068         25,402,444         23,437,945         
Education 14,371,523                     14,168,239         13,698,314         12,627,923         11,663,229         

55,695,959                     53,676,967         51,470,298         47,416,420         44,058,368         

Current Year's Tax Collections 53,796,498                     51,332,868         49,598,989         44,804,309         41,330,270         

Current Year's Tax Collections as a 

Percentage of Current Tax Levy 96.6% 95.6% 96.4% 94.5% 93.8%

Total Tax Arrears 1,659,040                       1,645,837           2,473,184           2,763,391           3,120,239           

Total Tax Arrears as a Percentage of

Current Tax Levy 3.0% 3.1% 4.8% 5.8% 7.1%

Top Ten Largest Corporate Property Taxpayers in 2016

Owner Assessment Value $
The Outlet Collection (Niagara) Limited 187,145,501       
Lais Hotel Properties Limited 87,881,380         
Niagara Falls Bridge Commission 30,769,000         
White Oaks Tennis World Incorporated 20,192,000         
Pleasant Manor Retirement Village 18,810,500         
Celca Holdings Limited 13,001,250         
Xinjiade Canada Inc. 9,523,000           
Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. 9,259,250           
Murlee Holdings Limited 8,738,751           
Finer Space Trust Inc. 8,069,500           
Top Ten Assessment Total 393,390,132       

% of Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment 55.2%
% of Total Taxable Assessment 8.6%

Total Residential Assessment 3,860,633,633    
Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment 712,069,197       

Total Taxable Assessment 4,572,702,830    
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2017 2016                   2015                   2014                   2013                   

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Financial Assets

Cash 20,043,087                     20,000,557 17,945,508 22,823,779         20,868,166         
Short-term investments 42,640                            
Taxes receivable 1,659,040                       1,645,837 2,473,184 2,763,391           3,120,239           
Accounts receivable 4,787,721                       3,138,727 3,248,553 3,065,014           2,308,944           
Debt recoverable from others 40,737                            51,596 66,979 40,235                53,787                
Note receivable 8,478,901                       9,306,723 7,788,957 3,304,613           3,800,929           
Long-term investment 18,755,744                     17,699,729 17,188,850 16,957,381         14,737,612         

Total financial assets 53,807,870 51,843,169 48,712,031 48,954,413         44,889,677         

Financial Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9,140,858                       8,110,182 9,071,102 9,045,037           7,896,257           
Lease purchase agreements -                                  -                      -                      -                      18,510                
Deferred revenue 12,594,905                     11,975,057 10,941,704 9,457,952           8,577,623           
Post-employment benefits 1,116,462                       1,121,146 1,063,097 1,040,487           1,051,535           
Net long-term liabilities 3,047,855                       3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945           3,777,782           

Total financial liabilities 25,900,080                     24,855,490 25,310,370 22,777,421         21,321,707         

Net financial assets (net debt) 27,907,790 26,987,679 23,401,661 26,176,992         23,567,970         

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets 178,633,477                   174,424,724 174,016,612 168,286,717       165,296,055       
Inventories and prepaid 519,503                          395,973 413,327 198,754              319,708              

Total non-financial assets 179,152,980                   174,820,697 174,429,939 168,485,471       165,615,763       

Accumulated surplus 207,060,769 201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463       189,183,733       
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2017 2016                   2015                   2014                   2013                   

Statement of Financial Position Statistics

Tangible Capital Asset Additions 9,716,547                       6,894,243 10,457,783 7,596,665           6,449,237           

Net Long-term Liabilities 3,047,855                       3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945           3,777,782           
Per Capita $174.05 $208.39 $274.97 $210.00 $245.31
Percentage of Tax Levy 5.47% 6.80% 8.23% 6.82% 8.57%

Gross Debt

Supported by Taxes 1,245,520                       1,343,840 1,440,720 193,160              215,160              
Supported by Non-tax Revenue 1,802,335                       2,305,266 2,793,747 3,040,785           3,562,622           
Net Long-term Liabilities 3,047,855 3,649,106 4,234,467 3,233,945           3,777,782           

Debt Charges for the Year

Principal Payments 590,393                          569,978 555,129 530,285              816,943              
Interest Charges 128,393                          149,305 127,307 130,785              164,519              

Annual Debt Repayment Limit 6,990,743                       5,925,006 5,440,877 4,383,778           3,714,669           

Accumulated Surplus 207,060,769                   201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463       189,183,733       
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2017 2016                   2015                   2014                   2013                   

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Revenue by Source

Taxation 11,786,633                     11,338,711 10,644,585 9,821,497           9,392,979           
User fees and charges 14,114,544                     12,746,106 11,549,046 11,063,963         10,887,069         
Government of Canada 1,345,431                       474,196 451,143 705,787              585,464              
Province of Ontario 1,478,502                       896,734 1,242,019 968,943              1,093,259           
Other municipal funding 153,909                          188,485 320,197 303,007              255,769              
Development levies earned 1,795,008                       1,997,029 2,196,397 2,219,911           1,935,219           
Interest and penalties 323,552                          376,336 424,426 463,989              591,799              
Investment income 556,820                          531,874 478,637 469,434              536,132              
Donations 419,093                          197,592 66,089 301,010              196,570              
Miscellaneous income/other 1,617,605                       2,067,104 1,768,916 1,713,544           1,586,381           
NOTLEI net income 1,663,472                       1,010,879 658,472 2,757,468           993,368              

Total revenue by source 35,254,569 31,825,046 29,799,927 30,788,553         28,054,009         

Expense by Function 

General Government 2,375,773                       2,512,972 2,377,281 2,123,697           1,548,390           
Protection 3,021,714                       2,717,109 2,810,677 2,730,652           2,722,289           
Transportation 6,765,464                       6,154,940 5,591,326 5,201,128           5,362,607           
Environment 9,856,149                       9,716,949 9,425,157 8,917,286           8,872,261           
Health 564,610                          539,679 608,744 620,431              646,656              
Recreation 5,542,527                       4,734,811 4,780,295 4,649,966           4,250,977           
Planning and Development 1,768,481                       1,471,811 1,110,307 1,066,663           1,139,544           

Total expenses by function 29,894,718                     27,848,271 26,703,787 25,309,823         24,542,724         

Annual Surplus 5,359,851                       3,976,775 3,169,137 5,478,730           3,511,285           
Other Comprehensive Income NOTLEI (107,457)                         
Accumulated surplus, beginning 201,808,375                   197,831,600 194,662,463 189,183,733       185,672,448       
Accumulated surplus, ending 207,060,769                   201,808,375 197,831,600 194,662,463       189,183,733       

Analysis of Expenses by Object

Salaries and wages 10,132,563                     9,979,539 9,245,742 9,078,851           8,981,465           
Operating materials and supplies 3,958,395                       4,289,480 4,177,896 3,391,073           3,716,716           
Contracted services 9,022,565                       7,295,951 7,038,626 6,946,031           6,203,065           
Rents and financial expenses 503,821                          286,457 339,487 259,844              203,013              
External transfers 819,792                          700,995 623,140 763,989              673,195              
Amortization 5,326,092                       5,142,525 4,908,318 4,701,656           4,596,245           
Loss on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets -                      241,013 34,367                -                      
Debt service 131,490                          153,324 129,565 134,012              169,025              

Total expenses by object 29,894,718 27,848,271 26,703,787 25,309,823         24,542,724         
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Message from the Fire Chief 
Rob Grimwood 

 
 
 
 

It is an honour and a pleasure to present the Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & 
Emergency Services Annual Report to Council, residents and staff. The provision 
of Emergency Services is a complex and continually evolving field. Looking back 
on 2017, I am proud of the hard work of our staff and the many accomplishments 
that we achieved. It requires dedicated staff who are willing to adapt to changes, 
work hard and continuously train to meet the needs of the community. 

This annual report will provide you with a sense of our accomplishments and 
show the level of dedication our department has to serving our community. Many 
of these things would not be able to be completed without the fine work of our 
staff, but also without the continued support from Council and the senior 
management team of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake. 

This report provides insight into the time, effort and dedication provided to the 
community by Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services in 2017. The 
report outlines call volumes, fire prevention statistics, public education efforts, 
professional development achievements and many other significant strides that 
were made over the past year. 

The Fire & Emergency Services Department strives to provide the residents and 
visitors of Niagara-on-the-Lake with prompt, professional and compassionate 
service from well trained and well-equipped firefighters. We are committed to our 
role of responding to assist people during their time of need and maintain our 
commitment to provide high level service. 

For those who have an opportunity to read this report, I hope it provides a 
glimpse into the daily operations of our Department. It is always an honour and a 
privilege to open the doors of our organization to the people we serve. 

Sincerely, 

Rob Grimwood 
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2017 Achievements & Accomplishments 

1. Replaced Pumper 1A with a new light rescue squad. 

2. Hosted a successful Council workshop. 

3. Hired a new Deputy Chief, Training Officer, Fire Prevention Officer and Fire Inspector & Public 
Educator.  

4. Implemented a Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) Prevention & Critical Incident Stress 
Management (CISM) Program and peer support team. 

5. Met Fire Prevention Division targets for conducting fire safety inspections.  Completed fire 
safety inspections and fire evacuation drills at all care occupancies. 

6. Successfully recruited 16 new volunteer firefighters to fill existing vacancies. 

7. Had an extremely active Fire Safety Public Education Program with 51 public education 
events. 

8. Completed the replacement of a staff vehicle, refurbishment of Rescue 3 and the 
implementation of an Emergency Support Unit. 

9. Achieved compliance with Emergency Management Ontario’s municipal requirements, 

including running a successful emergency exercise.  

10. Implemented new Incident Command SOG’s and Incident Command training. 

11. Upgraded auto extrication equipment at 3 stations and completed modern accident victim 
extrication training. 

12. Implemented a successful residential smoke and carbon monoxide alarm inspection program. 
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

ADMINISTRATION 

 
 

 Capital & Operating Budget Preparation and Management 
 

 Purchasing 
 

 Council Reporting 
 

 Statistic & Data Preparation and Reporting 
 

 Health & Safety 
 

 Compliance with Standards and Regulations 
 

 Recruitment and Personnel Management 
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2017 Fire Department Response Statistics 

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services responded to a total of 654 calls in 2017. This was 
an increase of 52 calls from 2016.   

The graph below outlines the total call volume over the last 5 years: 

 

 

 

 

  

620

606 605
602

654

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire Services
Total Incidents per Year 
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Call Types 

The chart below depicts the distribution of all emergency responses that Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire 
responded to in 2017 by type of call. 

 

*Other: Vehicle Fires-8 
  Elevator Rescues-7 
  Garbage Container/Rubbish Fire-5 

Water/Ice Rescue-4 
Arching Hydro Lines-3 

  Rope Rescue-1 
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Fire Alarm Activations

29%

Carbon Monoxide 
Investigations
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Structure Fires
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Hazardous 
Materials 

Emergencies
2%

Natural Gas 
Emergencies

2%

Grass/Brush Fires
3%

Burning Complaints
3%

Public 
Assistance

4%

Other
4%

2017 INCIDENTS BY TYPE
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Station Responses 

There were 959 total responses by Niagara-on-the-Lake firefighters in 2017. Several of the 654 calls 
required the response of more than 1 station. These additional responses include the need for 
multiple station responses to complex buildings, highway accidents, structure fires and requests for 
additional personnel. 

The below chart shows the distribution of response by station with the breakdown of in district calls, 
out of district calls and highway calls.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Station 1 Station 2 Station 3 Station 4 Station 5

Highway Calls 0 44 0 37 45

Out of District Calls 37 51 76 42 20

In District Calls 240 96 139 52 80
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Structure Fires 

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services responded to 9 structure fires in 2017.  

These included: 

 4 kitchen fires (significant damage) 
 2 electrical fires (minor damage) 
 1 basement fire (significant damage) 
 1 garage fire (significant damage) 
 1 fire to the exterior of a house caused by lightning (minor damage) 
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT & TRAINING 

 
 

 Recruit Firefighter Training 
 

 Officer Development Training 
 

 Specialized Rescue Training 
 

 Firefighter Curriculum Training 
 

 Patient Care Training 
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Professional Development and Training 

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services Training Division is coordinated by Training 
Officer Darryl Janzen. The primary focus of the Training Division is to develop and provide the 
highest quality training and education to the members of Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency 
Services, from the new recruits to the District Chiefs. Compliance with provincial standards and 
regulations, as well as department operating guidelines and policies, is met by providing the 
following training and programs: 
 

 Fire Suppression 
 Water Supply 
 Apparatus Operations 
 Ventilation 
 Search & Rescue 
 Forcible Entry 
 Accident Victim Extrication 
 Water and Ice Rescue 
 Firefighter Survival and Rescue (Rapid Intervention Teams) 
 Incident Command 
 Hazardous Materials 
 DZ Driver Licensing / Driver Training 
 Officer Development               
 Recruit Training 
 Patient Care 
 Live Fire Training 
 Rope Rescue 

 
Training Is Supposed to be Hard. 

 

   

That way when the call comes the 

results are lives and property saved, 

SAFELY, EFFICIENTLY 

and without any HESITATION 

because your 

TRAINING HAS PREPARED YOU! 

 
The Training Division continues to research new equipment, methods, technology and programs 
that will improve departmental functions and ensure the safety of all personnel. Routine tasks for 
the Training Section include: 
 

 Development of new training programs  
 Revision of the existing training curriculum and programs 
 Development of instructor skills 
 Acquisition of new training materials 

 
The Training Division consists of 1 full-time Training Officer and one Training Coordinator from 
each station and is supplemented by a number of instructors.
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Professional Development and Training 

The firefighters train on a weekly basis within their stations in accordance with a 
formal training curriculum for the purposes of maintaining skills. 
 
In 2017 volunteer firefighters completed over 8,500 hours of weekly training. 
 
In addition, other training is held on other nights and weekends. This training 
includes specialized rescue training (High Angle Rescue Team), officer development 
and other specialized courses.  
 
In 2017 volunteer firefighters completed over 2,000 hours of additional training. 
 
Some of these courses included: 

 Incident Safety Officer – 24 firefighters and officers trained 
 Complex Building Operations – 33 firefighters and officers trained 
 Critical Incident Stress Management – 18 firefighters and officers trained 
 Driver Training – 14 firefighters trained 
 First Aid Instructor Course – 12 firefighters and officers trained 
 Rope Rescue Technician – 11 firefighters and officers trained 
 Principles of Modern Fire Attack – 23 firefighters and officers trained 
 Auto Extrication Train the Trainer – 10 firefighters and officers trained 
 Fire Suppression/Hose Handling – 11 firefighters trained 
 Incident Management – 22 firefighters and officers trained 
 FESTI (Fire & Emergency Services Training Institute) Firefighter Training Day – 

19 firefighters and officers attended 
 

 
 
Auto Extrication Train-the-trainer course  Complex Building Operations Training 
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Complex Building Operations Training Rope Rescue Training at the Quarry 

 
 
        

  
 Recruit Firefighter Survival & Rescue Forcible Entry Training 

 
 

 
High Angle Rope Rescue Training Recruit SCBA Training 
 
 
 



13 
 

High Angle Rescue Team Training 

 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services operates a specialized High Angle 
Rescue Team comprised of approximately 20 firefighters from all 5 stations. This team 
is specially dispatched to rope rescue calls that occur anywhere in town. Given the 
complexity of the escarpment and the Niagara River Parkway, this team is specially 
trained to rappel into the gorge and rescue victims. 

 
 
Members of the High Angle Rescue Team dedicate an additional Saturday morning of 
training each month, over and above all other firefighter training, to be able to provide 
this highly technical service. 
 

Complex Building Operations 

 
In response to several new multi-story and complex buildings being built and proposed 
in Niagara-on-the-Lake a specific training session was held for firefighters and officers to 
learn tactics and techniques to manage emergencies in high-rise and high-risk buildings. 
 
Outside instructors were brought in to spend a day with firefighters providing training at 
two newly constructed hotels on York Road. A big thank you to the  
 
Tactics on Tap 
 
A new program was initiated in 2017 called Tactics on Tap. This program hosted 3 
events where firefighters met in a social capacity to listen to a training presentation. This 
program was a huge success because of the community partnerships of Oast House 
Brewers, Corks Restaurant and Silversmith Brewing Company.  
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 
 

    FIRE PREVENTION 

 
 

 Enforcement of the Ontario Fire Code and the Fire Protection and 
Prevention Act 

 

 Public Fire Safety Education 
 

 Fire Safety Inspections 
 

 Fire Investigations 
 

 Fire Safety Plan Reviews 
 

 Plans Examinations 
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Fire Prevention Division  

Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services Fire Prevention Division is comprised 
of full-time Fire Prevention Officer Jay Plato and part-time Fire Inspector & Public 
Educator Andrew Allan. They are assisted by volunteer firefighters who dedicate their 
time to assisting with fire prevention and public fire safety education programs. 

The Fire Prevention Division is responsible for the following: 

 Conducting fire safety inspections/ensuring compliance with the Ontario Fire 
Code 

 Initiating the prosecution of Ontario Fire Code offences 
 Reviewing and approving fire safety plans 
 Reviewing and approving planning & development applications 
 Reviewing and approving special events 
 Providing public fire safety education 
 Coordinating pre-incident planning and building familiarization 
 Conducting investigations into the cause & origin of fires 

 

Fire Prevention Activities 

In 2017 the Fire Prevention Division accomplished the following: 

 Completed 169 fire safety inspections 
 Issued 45 inspection orders regarding Ontario Fire Code violations 
 Prepared 4 prosecution briefs to initiate prosecution of Ontario Fire Code 

violations 
 Conducted 9 occupancy inspections with the building department 
 Conducted 5 kitchen hood system inspections 
 Reviewed and approved 137 special event applications 
 Approved the issuing of 50 special occasion permits 
 Completed 9 AGCO Liquor License application reviews 
 Completed 64 planning & development application reviews (includes subdivision 

and site plan application reviews) 
 Completed 3 building construction plan reviews 
 Reviewed and approved 10 fire safety plans 
 Conducted 51 public fire safety education events including 6 school fire drills 
 Completed 21 file searches 
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Fire Safety Inspections 

In 2017 the Fire Prevention Division completed 169 fire safety inspections. These 
inspections include requests from property owners, complaints, licensing or 
accreditation requirements and inspections that were initiated by the fire department.  

Of the 169 inspections completed, 45 properties were issued inspection orders requiring 
work to be done to become compliant with the Ontario Fire Code. 

In 4 cases prosecution was initiated against property owners for Ontario Fire Code 
violations. 

Public Education  

Fire Prevention Officer Jay Plato and Fire Inspector & Public Educator Andrew Allan are 
assisted by a pool of volunteer firefighters who dedicate their time to assisting with the 
delivery of public fire safety education programs. 

These programs include, but are not limited to, school fire safety visits, the delivery of 
fire extinguisher training, providing the public with fire safety education materials, 
conducting staff training at businesses and vulnerable occupancies and Fire Prevention 
Week activities. 

 
Delivering fire safety education at St. Davids School 
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Niagara Nursery School students visit a fire station 

 

Delivering fire safety education to the public                                                                                                         
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Residential Smoke & Carbon Monoxide Alarm Program  

The Fire Prevention Division initiated a residential smoke and carbon monoxide alarm 
inspection program where volunteer firefighters went door-to-door in their districts 
checking smoke and carbon monoxide alarms and educating citizens on the importance 
of maintaining working smoke and carbon monoxide alarms and home escape planning.  

The program was a huge success with 705 homes visited, 403 homes inspected and 72 
smoke or carbon monoxide alarms installed where they were missing or not working. 

Providing fire safety information to the residents of Niagara-on-the-Lake is always of 
priority to ensure fire safety.    

 

 

A huge thank you to Penner Home Hardware Building Centre who sponsored the 
residential smoke and carbon monoxide alarm inspection program.  
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

 
 
 

    FLEET, FACILITIES & EQUIPMENT 

 
 Purchasing, Maintaining and Repairing Apparatus 

 

 Equipment Purchases, Maintenance and Repair 
 

 Maintaining Fire Stations 
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Fleet 

Deputy Fire Chief Nick Ruller has the responsibility for the care, maintenance, testing 
and management of all apparatus.  Under his direction stations are responsible for 
ensuring that all vehicle and equipment checks are carried out to ensure a state of 
readiness in the event of an emergency call.   
 
In addition, there is the responsibility of annually ensuring that:  
 

 All mandatory Ministry of Transportation inspections are completed on schedule 
 Ground & aerial ladder inspections and testing are conducted on both aerial 

devices 
 Pump and ground ladder testing is completed on all pumpers trucks 
 All fire suppression vehicles are serviced on schedule 
 All staff vehicles are serviced on schedule  

 
 
Vehicle type and quantities: 
 
Staff vehicles    5    
         
Pumpers    7 
 
Aerial Ladder Trucks  2        
             
Tankers    2        
  
Rescues    2 
 
Support Unit    1 
          
Squad     1   
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Facilities 

Deputy Fire Chief Nick Ruller has the responsibility of coordinating the care, 
maintenance, repairs and upkeep of all fire stations. Station officers have the 
responsibility to ensure that they are routinely inspected for any health and safety 
issues as well.  
 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services operates out of 5 fire stations: 
 
 

 Station 1 – Old Town 
 Station 2 – St. Davids  
 Station 3 – Virgil 
 Station 4 – Queenston 
 Station 5 – Glendale 
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Equipment 

Fire Chief Rob Grimwood and Deputy Fire Chief Nick Ruller have the responsibility of 
coordinating the care, maintenance, testing, replacement, repairs and management of 
all firefighting tools and equipment. Stations have the responsibility to ensure that all 
tools and equipment are inspected to ensure equipment is in a state of readiness in the 
event of an emergency.  Routinely, various equipment is scheduled to be inspected, 
tested and maintained according to manufacturer recommendations or legislated 
requirements including: 

 Function testing of breathing apparatus 
 Hydrostatic testing of breathing air cylinders 
 Maintenance, testing and air sampling of breathing air compressors 
 Preventative maintenance on all small equipment, portable pumps, generators, 

ventilation saws, rotary saws etc. 
 Preventative maintenance on all auto extrication equipment  
 Testing and calibration of all gas detection units 
 Testing/inventory of all hose on fire apparatus 
 Bunker gear/PPE inspections, repairs and replacement 
 Testing of all ground ladders 
 Inspection and testing of fire extinguishers 
 Inventory and conditioning of portable radios 
 Maintenance and repair of patient care equipment 
 Inspection and maintenance of rope rescue equipment 
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FIRE & EMERGENCY SERVICES 

Emergency Management Program 

Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Emergency Management Program designs, coordinates and 
implements a wide variety of initiatives and activities to ensure compliance with 
Provincial Emergency Management Legislation. 

Annual Emergency Management programming strengthens Niagara-on-the-Lake’s 

ability to prepare for, respond to, and recover from major emergencies. 

In 2017 Niagara-on-the-Lake met all of the Emergency Management Program 
requirements as outlined: 

 Maintaining a Municipal Emergency Response Plan 
 Ensuring that a certified Community Emergency Management Coordinator is 

trained and certified to coordinate emergency response efforts 
 Establishing a Municipal Emergency Control Group that will have responsibility 

for decision-making during a large-scale emergency or disaster 
 Conducting an annual review of the municipalities critical infrastructure 
 Conducting an annual risk assessment of potential hazards 
 Conducting annual training for Emergency Control Group members 
 Conducting an annual emergency exercise  
 Conducting public education relative to emergency management 

2017 Emergency Management Program Highlights 

 Members of the Emergency Control Group & Emergency Support Group 
attended a training session that prepared the group for managing an emergency 
and ensured comfort working with the emergency plan and the emergency 
operations centre 

 Members of the Emergency Control Group ran a table-top exercise managing a 
severe weather emergency 

 Personal emergency preparedness information was distributed as part of 
emergency preparedness week 

https://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjM2vD_zY_ZAhVLmVkKHU6nBroQjRwIBw&url=http://www.notl.org/content/fire-and-emergency-services&psig=AOvVaw1IuNnx9ysw6OuI5d6Wr00U&ust=1517948767545532
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Volunteer Firefighter Recognition Event: October 15th 2017  

On October 15, 2017 Council hosted a volunteer firefighter recognition event. The 
purpose of the event was to recognize the contributions of all volunteer firefighters. In 
addition, this event specifically recognized years of service benchmarks (5, 10, 15, 20, 
25, 30 and 35 years of service), retirements and promotions. 

A huge thank you to Wayne Gretzky Estates Winery and Distillery for hosting the event 
and sponsoring the refreshments. 

Honoured for 5 Years of Service  

Brad Disher, Mike Hassim, Hendrik Heikoop, Andrew Stuart and Chris Warner      

 

Lord Mayor Pat Darte, Deputy Chief Nick Ruller, Firefighter Andrew Stuart, Firefighter 
Mike Hassim, Firefighter Brad Disher, Firefighter Hendrik Heikoop and Fire Chief Rob 
Grimwood 
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Honoured for 10 Years of Service 

Brad Hamilton, Darryl Janzen, Tom Mussari, Louis Prue, Gerry Van Egmond and 
Jeremy Werner 

 

Deputy Chief Nick Ruller, Firefighter Tom Mussari, Firefighter Louis Prue, Firefighter 
Jeremy Werner, Lieutenant Darryl Janzen, Lord Mayor Pat Darte and Fire Chief Rob 
Grimwood 

Honoured for 15 Years of Service 

Charlie Burland, Keith Morley, Kurt Neumann, Scott Pearson and Leo Visser 

 

Assistant District Chief Leo Visser, Firefighter Keith Morley, Firefighter Charlie Burland, 
Lord Mayor Pat Darte, Deputy Chief Nick Ruller and Fire Chief Rob Grimwood 
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Honoured for 20 Years of Service 

Rob Glass, Peter Gonta, Rob MacLeod and Pat O’Brien 

 

Captain Pat O’Brien, Firefighter Rob Glass, Firefighter Rob MacLeod, Lord Mayor Pat 

Darte, Deputy Chief Nick Ruller and Fire Chief Rob Grimwood 

Honoured for 30 Years of Service 
 
Alan Bilinsky, Cameron DeGrow and Rod Falk 
 

 
 

District Chief Cameron DeGrow, Firefighter Alan Bilinsky, Firefighter Rod Falk, Lord 
Mayor Pat Darte, Deputy Chief Nick Ruller and Fire Chief Rob Grimwood 
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Honoured for 35 Years of Service 
 
Ken Hernder 
 

 
 

Lord Mayor Pat Darte, Firefighter Ken Hernder, Deputy Chief Nick Ruller and Fire Chief 
Rob Grimwood 

Retirement 
 

 
 
Lord Mayor Pat Darte, Retired Firefighter Sigi Neuhof, Fire Chief Rob Grimwood and 
Deputy Chief Nick Ruller 
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Council Workshop 

On April 17, 2017 Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency Services hosted a Council 
workshop with the goal of providing the Lord Mayor, members of Council and the CAO 
with a better understanding of  

Members of Council receiving information on rural water supply operations: 

 

Members of Council learning about fire suppression: 

 

https://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjKqonrtajZAhWCdt8KHcVVCuIQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://www.niagarathisweek.com/news-story/7250237-notl-council-steps-into-firefighters-boots/&psig=AOvVaw33k1dePqi-HS1MYuDGpsK8&ust=1518801200066697
https://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwil5rjJtajZAhVION8KHZbdDxwQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=http://www.stcatharinesstandard.ca/2017/04/19/notl-councillors-learn-challenges-faced-by-volunteer-firefighters&psig=AOvVaw33k1dePqi-HS1MYuDGpsK8&ust=1518801200066697
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Members of Council donning bunker gear:  

 

 

Members of Council receiving information on the High Angle Rescue Team: 

 

https://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjmu_nRtajZAhWkTd8KHQ1KCkcQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=https://www.niagarathisweek.com/news-story/7250237-notl-council-steps-into-firefighters-boots/&psig=AOvVaw33k1dePqi-HS1MYuDGpsK8&ust=1518801200066697
https://www.google.ca/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiEzpnktajZAhVNmuAKHYaABzIQjRx6BAgAEAY&url=http://www.stcatharinesstandard.ca/2017/04/19/notl-councillors-learn-challenges-faced-by-volunteer-firefighters&psig=AOvVaw33k1dePqi-HS1MYuDGpsK8&ust=1518801200066697
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2018 Objectives 

1. Review and revise divisional policies & operating guidelines to ensure 
compliance with legislative requirements and consistency with modern research 
& developments.  

2.  Complete the replacement of Tanker 2. 

3. Complete the replacement of Car 5. 

4. Complete a detailed inventory of all fire hoses, nozzles and firefighting 
appliances and implement a replacement strategy. 

5. Complete the replacement of the communications system. 

6. Continue to develop community partnerships to enhance the Fire Safety Public 
Education Program.  Better utilize media & social media to provide fire safety 
education messages to the public. 

7. Complete fire safety inspections of all buildings identified in the fire safety 
inspection frequency schedule as approved by Council. 

8. Establish back-up power at the designated Emergency Operations Centre and 
the Community Centre, which would be used as a reception centre during a 
large-scale emergency. 

9. Conduct a fire department core services review and revise the establishing and 
regulating by-law.  

10. Complete a strategic plan that guides the department for the next 5 years. 

11. Complete firefighter training and certification to new meet new provincial 
requirements. 

12. Conduct a large-scale emergency exercise.  
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